Marquette University e-Publications@Marquette

Master's Theses (2009 -)

Dissertations, Theses, and Professional Projects

Positions in the GluN2C-Containing NMDAR Regulate Alcohol Sensitivity and Ion Channel Gating

Man Wu Marquette University

Recommended Citation

Wu, Man, "Positions in the GluN2C-Containing NMDAR Regulate Alcohol Sensitivity and Ion Channel Gating" (2014). *Master's Theses* (2009 -). 261. https://epublications.marquette.edu/theses_open/261

POSITIONS IN THE GLUN2C-CONTAINING NMDAR REGULATE

ALCOHOL SENSITIVITY AND ION CHANNEL GATING

by

MAN WU

A Thesis submitted to the Faculty of the Graduate School,

Marquette University,

in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for

the Degree of Master of Science

Milwaukee, Wisconsin

May 2014

ABSTRACT

POSITIONS IN THE GLUN2C-CONTAINING NMDAR REGULATE

ALCOHOL SENSITIVITY AND ION CHANNEL GATING

MAN WU

Marquette University, 2014

The N-methyl-D-aspartate (NMDA) receptor, a subtype of glutamate-gated ion channel, has been shown to be a major target of ethanol in the central nervous system (CNS). Previous studies have identified positions in the third and fourth membrane-associated (M) domains of the NMDAR GluN1 and GluN2A subunits that influence ethanol sensitivity. Among the alcohol sensitive sites, a methionine residue is highly conserved in all GluN1 and GluN2 subunits. We proposed the methionine position (Met-821) in the M4 domain of the GluN2C subunit can regulate ethanol sensitivity and ion channel gating.

14 mutations were made at the methionine position, 7 substitutions yielded functional receptors, which can influence ethanol sensitivity, glutamate potency and desensitization compared to wild type NMDAR containing GluN2C subunit. The other 7 mutations showed small spontaneous currents with apparent ethanol inhibition.

The predicted structure of the NMDAR indicates that alcohol sensitive positions in the M3-M4 intersubunit interfaces between the two subunit types interactively regulate ethanol sensitivity and ion channel gating. We proposed that the Met-821 position interact with the Gly-638 or Phe-639 position in the GluN1 M3 domain to regulate ethanol sensitivity and ion channel gating. Dual tryptophan mutants G638W/M821W and F639W/M821W showed small spontaneous currents with apparent ethanol inhibition. To test the interaction between these two pairs of positions, cysteine mutations were made at Gly-638, Phe-639, and Met-821. Dual cysteine mutants G638C/M821C and F639C/M821C yielded functional receptors. G638C/M821C showed significant interaction with respect to ethanol inhibition, suggesting these pair of positions interactively regulate ethanol sensitivity and ion channel gating.

DTT reducing experiments showed DTT-potentiated currents and increased deactivation time constant Tau in the dual cysteine mutant G638C/M821C.

In the present studies, we showed that the Met-821 position involved in regulating ethanol sensitivity and ion channel gating. We also showed Gly-638 and Met-821 positions in the M3-M4 intersubunit interfaces between GluN1 and GluN2C subunits interactively regulate ethanol sensitivity. The results we observed from GluN2C-containing NMDAR are different from the previous discoveries in the NMDAR containing GluN2A subunit. The difference may mainly lies in the sequence difference between GluN2A and GluN2C M4 domains and small hydrophobic environment formed near the methionine position.

DEDICATION

To my parents,

Zhiying and Changze

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

MAN WU

I would like to extend my gratitude to Dr. Robert W. Peoples for the opportunity to pursue research in his laboratories and for his help and expertise in realizing my aims.

I would also like to thank the committee members, Dr. Doug Lobner and Dr. James Buchanan for providing me with help and advice.

Special thanks go to Yulin, my dearest friend and lab-mate.

My fondest regards for Dr. Qin Chen for her support and help.

In particular, I am indebted to my parents, Zhiying and Changze for their dependable love and support.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

| DEDICATION i |
|---|
| ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS ii |
| CONTENTS |
| LIST OF FIGURES |
| ABBREVIATIONS |
| DECLARATION x |
| PUBLICATIONS x i |
| CHAPTER 1. INTRODUCTION |
| The NMDA Receptor: A General Introduction1 |
| NMDA Receptor Development And Distribution1 |
| NMDA Receptor Physiology2 |
| The NMDA Receptor Pharmacology5 |
| The NMDA Receptor And Alcohol Addiction6 |
| CHAPTER 2. MATERIAL AND METHODS |
| Materials12 |
| Molecular Biology, Cell Culture, And Transfection12 |
| Electrophysiological Recording13 |
| Cysteine Cross-Linking13 |
| Molecular Modeling14 |

| Data Analysis14 |
|--|
| CHAPTER 3. A METHIONINE (MET-821) POSITION IN THE M4 DOMAIN |
| OF GLUN2C SUBUNIT CAN ALTER ETHANOL SENSITIVITY16 |
| INTRODUCTION16 |
| RESULTS |
| Ethanol Inhibition By Various GluN2 Subunits At The Methionine Residue |
| In M422 |
| Mutations At Met-821 Can Alter Ethanol Sensitivity And Glutamate |
| Activation23 |
| Ethanol Sensitivity Is Independent Of The Physical And Chemical |
| Properties Of The Substituent At GluN2C (Met-821)24 |
| Triheteromeric GluN1/GluN2A/GluN2C M821G NMDAR Can Restore Ion |
| Channel Gating Function25 |
| DISCUSSION |
| CHAPTER 4. A METHIONINE IN THE M4 DOMAIN OF THE GLUN2C |
| SUBUNIT CAN ALTER ION CHANNEL GATING |
| INTRODUCTION |
| RESULTS |
| Effects Of Mutations At GluN2C (Met-821) On Glutamate Potency And |
| Desensitization |
| Effects Of GluN2C (Met-821) Mutants On Deactivation |
| DISCUSSION |

| CHAPTER 5. A METHIONINE (MET-821) POSITION IN THE M4 DOMAIN | | | |
|--|--|--|--|
| OF GLUN2C SUBUNIT CAN INTERACT WITH POSITIONS IN THE M3 | | | |
| DOMAINS OF GLUN1 SUBUNIT | | | |
| INTRODUCTION | | | |
| RESULTS | | | |
| Effects Of Dual Tryptophan Mutants On Glutamate Activation43 | | | |
| Coexpressed Cysteine Mutants In The M3 And M4 Domains Of GluN1 | | | |
| And GluN2c Subunits Interact To Regulate Ethanol Inhibition44 | | | |
| Coexpressed Cysteine Mutants In The M3 And M4 Domains Of GluN1 | | | |
| And GluN2C Subunits Can Regulate Glutamate Potency45 | | | |
| Coexpressed Cysteine Mutants In The M3 And M4 Domains Of GluN1 | | | |
| And GluN2C Subunits Can Regulate NMDA Receptor Kinetics46 | | | |
| Cross-Linking Between Cysteine Substitutions In The M3 And M4 | | | |
| Domains Of GluN1 And GluN2c Subunits47 | | | |
| DISCUSSION | | | |
| CHAPTER 6. GENERAL DISCUSSION | | | |
| BIBLIOGRAPHY77 | | | |

LIST OF FIGURES

| Figure 1. The structural model of M domains of the NMDARs56 |
|---|
| Figure 2. A methionine residue in the M4 domain is conserved in all GluN subunit57 |
| Figure 3. Effects of ethanol on tryptophan mutations at methionine residue in the M4 domain of GluN2 subunits58 |
| Figure 4. Single mutations at Met-821 residue in the M4 domain of GluN2C subunit can alter ethanol inhibition |
| Figure 5. Relation of amino acid physicochemical parameters of the substituent at Met-821 to ethanol sensitivity |
| Figure 6. Triheteromeric GluN1/GluN2A/GluN2C M821G NMDAR Can Restore Ion Channel Gating Function61 |
| Figure 7. Single mutations at Met-821 residue in the M4 domain of GluN2C subunit can alter the EC_{50} for peak and steady-state glutamate-activated current and apparent desensitization |
| Figure 8. Relationship between glutamate EC_{50} and apparent desensitization64 |
| Figure 9. The deactivation time constant (τ) of substituent at GluN2C (Met-821)65 |
| Figure 10. Single tryptophan mutations in the M3 and M4 domains of GluN1 and GluN2C subunits can alter ethanol inhibition |
| Figure 11. Cysteine mutations in the M3 and M4 domains of GluN1 and GluN2C subunits can alter ethanol inhibition |

Figure 14. The deactivation time constant (τ) of cysteine mutations in the M3 and M4 domains of GluN1 and GluN2C subunits......70

Figure 17. Effects of DTT on the deactivation time constant (τ) of cysteine mutations in the M3 and M4 domains of GluN1 and GluN2C subunits......73

Figure 18. Model of the MD of the NMDARs.....74

Figure 19. Relation of agonist potency, ion channel gating to EtOH sensitivity in NMDAR containing GluN2C (Met-821) mutant subunits......75

| Figure 20. Model of the MD of the NMDARs | .7 | 6 |
|--|----|---|
|--|----|---|

ABBREVIATIONS

| AMPA | α-amino-3-hydroxy-5-methyl-4-isoxazolepropionic acid |
|------------------|--|
| ANOVA | analysis of variance |
| AP5 | D-2-amino-5-phosphono-pentanoic acid |
| ATD | amino-terminal domain |
| BAPTA | α -Amino-3-hydroxy-5-methyl-4-isoxazolepropionic acid |
| CaMKII | Ca ²⁺ /calmodulin-dependent protein kinase II |
| CNS | central nervous system |
| CTD | carboxyl-terminal domain |
| DCKA | 5,7-dichlorokynurenic acid |
| DTT | dithiothreitol |
| Emax | maximum excitatory effect |
| EC ₅₀ | 50% excitatory concentration |
| EPSC | excitatory postsynaptic current |
| EPSP | excitatory postsynaptic potential |
| GABA | γ-Aminobutyric acid |
| GFP | green fluorescent protein |
| HEK | human embryonic kidney |
| HEPES | 4-(2-hydroxyethyl)-1-piperazineethanesulfonic acid |
| 5-HT | 5-hydroxytryptamin |

| IC ₅₀ | 50% inhibitory concentration |
|------------------|---|
| lp | glutamate-activated peak current |
| l _{ss} | glutamate-activated steady-state current |
| LBD | ligand-binding domain |
| LTD | long-term depression |
| LTP | long-term potentiation |
| MD | membrane-associated domain |
| МОТ | mean open time |
| MTS | cysteine-specific methanethiosulfonate |
| MTSEA | MTS-ethylammonium |
| MTSET | MTS-ethyltrimethylammonium |
| NMDA | N-methyl-D-aspartic acid |
| Po | open probability |
| РКА | protein kinase A |
| РКС | protein kinase C |
| SCAM | substituted cysteine accessibility method |

DECLARATION

I declare that I myself carried out all the work in this thesis except where referenced and that it has not been submitted for any previous higher degree.

PUBLICATIONS

Papers

Ren H, Zhao YL, **Wu M**, Peoples RW., A Novel Alcohol-Sensitive Position in the N-Methyl-D-Aspartate Receptor GluN2A Subunit M3 Domain Regulates Agonist Affinity and Ion Channel Gating. Mol Pharmacol. , 2013. **84**(4): p. 501-510.

Wu M & Peoples RW. A Novel Alcohol-sensitive Position In The M4 Domain Of The GluN2C-containing NMDAR. (In preparation)

Wu M & Peoples RW. Cysteine Cross-linking Between Positions in the M3 and M4 Domains at the Intersubunit Interface of The GluN2C-containing NMDAR Interactively Regulate Alcohol Action. **(In preparation)**

Abstracts

Wu M, Zhao YL, Peoples RW. A Novel Alcohol-sensitive Position In The M4 Domain Of The NMDA Receptor GluN2C Subunit. The Research Society on Alcoholism 2013, Orlando, FL

Zhao YL, **Wu M**, Peoples RW. Sites of alcohol action at the GluN1/GluN2B NMDA receptor M3-M4 domain intersubunit interfaces" Society for Neuroscience 2013, San Diego, CA

Chapter 1. Introduction

The NMDA receptor: a general introduction

The N-methyl-D-aspartate (NMDA) receptor, belonging to the ionotropic glutamate receptor family, is highly expressed in the central nervous system (CNS)[2, 3]. The NMDARs are sensitive to the specific agonist N-methyl-D-aspartate (NMDA)[4, 5], which distinguishes NMDARs from other L-glutamate-activated receptors (AMPA, kainite, and delta)[6]. As one of the most important neurotransmitter-activated ion channels in the brain, NMDAR plays critical roles in multiple aspects of brain function, including generating rhythms for breathing and locomotion activities, controlling synaptic plasticity underlying learning and memory processes, and regulating higher cognitive brain functions, such as cognition, attention, and fear[7-10].

NMDA receptor development and distribution

NMDARs are heterotetramers[1, 11-13], and functional receptors are assembled from two GluN1 subunits with either two GluN2 subunits or a combination of GluN2 and GluN3 subunits[14-16]. The GluN1 subunit, as the key element of tetrameric NMDARs, is present and widespread from an early developmental stage[17-19]. In contrast, GluN2 subunits show distinct expression patterns during the developmental process. In the rat CNS, only GluN2B and GluN2D subunits are expressed during the prenatal stage, but shortly after birth, GluN2A and GluN2C subunits quickly predominate while the GluN2B and GluN2D subunits decline to adult levels, resulting in a limited distribution[20]. GluN2B expression levels peak in the hippocampus and cortex during the third postnatal week and then decline to the low adult levels, while GluN2A expression continues to increase in the hippocampus and cortex, and peak throughout the brain during the third postnatal week before declining to adult levels[21-24]. GluN2C expression is very low in the cerebellum and forebrain at P7, but dramatically increases in the cerebellum at P12, where its expression peaks throughout granule cells during the third postnatal week and where it continuous to be expressed at high levels in the adult as the predominant subunit[23, 25]. In summary, the GluN1 and GluN2A subunits are ubiguitous in the adult brain; the GluN2B subunit is mainly in the forebrain; the GluN2C subunit predominates in the cerebellum and various select nuclei; and the GluN2D subunit is limited to the diencephalon and the midbrain[20, 25-28].

NMDA receptor physiology

The NMDARs are integral membrane proteins formed by four subunits, at least two GluN1 subunits with either two GluN2 subunits or a combination of GluN2 and GluN3 subunits[14-16]. Each individual subunit contains four distinct domains: the extracellular amino-terminal domain (ATD), which is involved in subunit assembly, trafficking and modulation; the ligand-binding domain (LBD), which participates in agonist or competitive antagonist binding and channel activation; the membrane-associated domains (MD), which form the membrane-spanning part of the receptor, and an intracellular carboxyl-terminal domain (CTD), which is mainly responsible for receptor localization and signaling regulation. Although each GluN subunit shares highly homologous sequence and architecture, NMDAR kinetics, regulation, and interaction with multiple intracellular proteins varies depending upon subunit composition[28, 29]. First, at resting membrane potentials, most subtypes of NMDARs undergo rapid channel block by extracellular Mg²⁺, which is only relieved with simultaneous depolarization and synaptic release of glutamate[30-32]. GluN2C-containing NMDARs are ~ 10 fold less sensitive to Mg²⁺ block compared to receptors containing GluN2A and GluN2B NMDARs[14, 33]. Second, NMDARs are highly permeable to both monovalent cations and Ca²⁺ ions. NMDAR activation results in an influx of Ca2+ as well as the influx of Na+ and efflux of K⁺[34-37]. Ca2+ entry has been demonstrated to be the key trigger for many important physiological activities including long-term potentiation (LTP) [7, 38, 39] and long-term depression (LTD)[40-42], where the relative magnitude of the rise in intracellular Ca2+ concentration and its temporal and spatial character determines which type of synaptic plasticity is induced[43-46]. Third, NMDAR activation requires coincident binding of both glutamate and the coagonist glycine[47, 48]. Glutamate is the endogenous agonist of GluN2 subunits[49, 50], while glycine and D-serine act as the agonist at the GluN1

subunit[51, 52]. In addition to glutamate, D- and L-aspartate are also endogenous agonists for the GluN2 subunits[53-56]. The GluN2 subunits show various glutamate potencies and efficacies. The GluN2A and GluN2B subunits have lower potency compared to the GluN2C and GluN2D subunits[14, 57, 58]. but higher efficacy as indicated by higher open probability (P_o) during the time when the receptor is fully occupied by agonist (intraburst P_o). Fourth, NMDAR desensitization is defined as a reduced response in the sustained presence of agonist. There are at least three different processes of NMDAR apparent desensitization: true desensitization, in which NMDAR responses are diminished in the continued presence of glutamate in a time-dependent manner[28, 59]; glycine-dependent apparent desensitization, in which binding of glutamate decreases the affinity for glycine, so that NMDAR responses decay in the presence of low concentrations of glycine[60, 61]; calcium inactivation, in which intracellular Ca²⁺ causes a decay in NMDAR-mediated current through an interaction with the GluN1 subunit cytoplasmic domain[61-63]. All forms of apparent and real desensitization are prominent in GluN2Acontaining NMDARs, but are not observable in GluN2C-containing NMDARs[14, 64-66]. Fifth, NMDAR deactivation contributes to the EPSC time course and is also dependent on subunit composition. The time constants of deactivation in NMDARs containing GluN2C or GluN2D subunits are much higher than those in GluN2A- and GluN2B- containing NMDARs.

The NMDA receptor pharmacology

The complicated architecture of the NMDAR provides agonists and antagonists with several distinct binding sites. The glycine binding site in the GluN1 subunit ligand-binding domain (LBD) is activated by glycine or D-serine, and blocked by antagonists such as 7-chlorokynurenic acid and its analog 5,7dichlorokynurenic acid (5,7-DCKA)[67-69]. Glutamate, NMDA, aspartate, and other agonists activate the glutamate binding site in GluN2 subunits and the antagonists of classical competitive this site are (R)-2-amino-5phosphonopentanoate (AP5 or APV)and its analogs, such as AP7[47]. Extracellular Mg²⁺ blocks the NMDAR channel pore at negative membrane potentials. Other open channel blockers, such as MK-801 and ketamine, block the ion channel in a manner that is not voltage-dependent, although recovery from block is accelerated by the outward movement of ions at positive membrane potentials[70]. Zinc inhibits NMDAR via dual actions: at millimolar concentrations, it produces ion channel block[71], and at nanomolar concentrations, it binds to the GluN2A ATD[72-74] of GluN2A-containing NMDAR to cause a rapid decay in current[75, 76]. Polyamines such as spermine and spermidine can inhibit or potentiate the NDMARs activities, at high and low concentrations respectively. At low micromolar concentrations, polyamines promote channel opening and at high concentrations, they block the channel[77-79].

The NMDA receptor and alcohol addiction

Ethanol is one of the most widely abused drugs in the world. Chronic alcohol exposure can cause multiple aspects of changes in brain morphology, function and behavior. Studies have shown that alcohol addiction not only can cause brain shrinkage and loss of neurons, but is associated with aberrant learning and memory processes[80-83]. It acts on multiple target proteins in the central nervous system at high millimolar concentrations[2, 3]. Among those targets, the NMDARs play a crucial role for the inhibitory effect of ethanol in the brain[84-90]. One of the earliest studies from Lovinger et al (1989). showed that acute ethanol exposure can inhibit NMDA-activated current in hippocampal neurons[91]. Later, ethanol inhibition of NMDA receptor activity was also demonstrated by measuring NMDA receptor-mediated excitatory postsynaptic potentials/currents (EPSPs/EPSCs) in slices from many different brain regions, such as cortex[92, 93], amygdala[94], nucleus accumbens[95, 96], hippocampus[91], and dorsal striatum[97, 98]. Similar inhibitory effects of ethanol were also found in HEK cells and Xenopus oocytes, expressing recombinant NMDA receptors. Single-channel recordings provided evidence that ethanol decreases the open channel probability and mean open time of NMDA receptors in cultured cortical neurons[92]. Although all of this evidence indicates that ethanol rapidly inhibits NMDA receptor function in vivo and in vitro, the precise molecular mechanisms of ethanol inhibition on the NMDA receptors have been difficult to determine. By using electrophysiological techniques,

rapidly-inhibited NMDA-evoked currents were detected in response to acute ethanol exposure in a concentration-dependent manner[99, 100], which suggested ethanol directly interacts with NMDA receptors. The questions that remain concern where this small molecule binds in NMDA receptors and how it changes NMDA receptor channel kinetics.

Based on the evidence that alcohol and NMDARs antagonists produce similar inhibitory effects in vivo and in vitro, studies mainly focused on finding alcohol molecule binding sites in the agonist site or other modulatory sites. However, the effect of ethanol on NMDARs of cultured mouse hippocampal neurons only showed decreased E_{max} values of the NMDARs concentration-response curve without affecting EC₅₀ values, which indicates that ethanol inhibit NMDARs activity in a non-competitive manner [86, 99, 101-103]. Whether the co-agonist (glycine) site can mediate ethanol's effects was initially controversial[86, 102-107]. Wright et al. (1996) showed that ethanol inhibition of NMDA channels does not involve substantial changes in fast closed state kinetics or changes in open channel conductance, and thus is not attributable to block of the open channel[92]. Peoples et al. (1997) showed there is no effect on ethanol inhibition of NMDA-activated currents even in the presence of different concentrations of Mg²⁺ in the cultured cortical neurons[103]. These two evidence indicate that alcohol molecule binding sites are not in the channel pore. Taken together, there is no evidence that alcohol binding sites are in the

extracellular structure of the NMDARs and suggests ethanol may affect NMDARs activities via effects on lipids or other intracellular proteins, such as protein kinase C (PKC). Snell et al. (1994) demonstrated the involvement of PKC in ethanol-induced inhibition of NMDARs in cerebellar granule cells[108]. In contrast, Peoples and Stewart (2002) showed C-terminal truncation mutant did not abolish the effect of ethanol on the NMDARs[99]. This result against the possibility that the alcohol inhibition on NMDARs is mediated via intracellular part of the receptors. Results from mutagenesis studies with alcohol- and anesthetic-sensitive y-aminobutyric acid A (GABAA) and glycine receptors showed that mutation at a serine residue in the second transmembrane (TM2) domain or an alanine residue in the third transmembrane (TM3) domain greatly affected the potentiation of GABA_A and glycine channel function by ethanol and volatile anesthetics [109]. Larger amino acids in the ethanol sensitive positions produce inhibition, while smaller amino acids producing enhanced potentiation. To find the alcohol action sites in the membrane-associated domain, Peoples and Woodward groups started a series of scanning studies in the M domain. Our lab first identified Met-823, a site of alcohol action in the M4 domain of the GluN2A subunit, which can not only alter ethanol sensitivity of GluN2Acontaining NMDAR, but can regulate glutamate potency, apparent desensitization, mean open time, and peak current density[110, 111]. The Woodward lab found Phe-639, a site in the M3 domain of the GluN1 subunit, which also can alter ethanol sensitivity[112]. Above evidence confirmed the

hypothesis that alcohol molecule can act on the sites in the membraneassociated domains. In the following studies, a series of ethanol sensitive resides are recognized in both GluN1 and GluN2A subunit, Gly-638 in the M3 domain of the GluN1 subunit, the cognate positions Phe-636, Phe-637, Met-823, Ala825 in GluN2A subunit[110, 111, 113-115] (Figure 1). Taken together, these ethanol sensitive sites are hydrophobic amino acids; are not involved in lining the ion channel lumen; and influence ion channel gating properties.

Because alcohol molecule can act on multiple sites in NMDARs, it is likely that ethanol sensitive residues form a small environment to regulate ethanol sensitivity together. Dual mutations at Phe-637 and Met823 in GluN2A subunit can influence ethanol sensitivity and receptor kinetics, which suggests that these two positions are functionally linked because modulation of ethanol by dual mutants is not additive[116]. Based on the reported structure of the GluA2 glutamate receptor M domains[1], it is possible that sites of alcohol action is formed by groups of 4-6 residues clustered in small regions at the M3-M4 intersubunit interfaces between GluN1 and GluN2A subunit[114] (Figure 1). By using two-way ANOVA and mutant cycle analysis of log-transformed ethanol IC50 values, significant interactions affecting ethanol inhibition was observed at four pairs of positions in GluN1/GluN2A: Gly-638/Met-823, Phe-639/Leu-824, Met-818/Phe-636, and Leu-819/Phe-637[114]. Unlike the interaction between Phe637 and Met823 in GluN2A subunit, these sites can alter ethanol action in a manner that all side chains of interacted residues are in close proximity[114].

Although accumulated evidence showed the important role of GluN1 and GluN2A subunit in the action of alcohol, it is largely unknown how other GluN2 subunits are involved in the modulation. The protein sequence of M3 and M4 domains is highly conserved through all GluN subunits. So, it is likely that GluN2C subunit also contain alcohol sensitive sites in the M3 and M4 domains. Unlike GluN2A and GluN2B subunit, GluN2C subunit has a limited distribution in cerebellum[20, 25-27]. The GluN2C subunit also can be found in thalamus[25], olfactory bulb[25], oligodendrocytes[117], and hippocampal interneurons[20]. The GluN2C subunit has its unique electrophysiologic and pharmacologic properties that differ from those of the GluN2A and GluN2B subunits. For example, the GluN2C-containing NMDA receptor has a lower open probability, being opens for only $\sim 1\%$ of the time during agonist activation[64], a lower single-channel conductance, shorter open time, lower sensitivity to Mg2+ block[20, 118], and higher affinity for the agonist and coagonist glutamate and glycine[57, 119]. In vivo studies have shown that GluN2C knockout mice have significant deficits in working memory and acquisition of conditioned fear[120], suggesting that GluN2C plays an important role in controlling cerebellum function. The GluN2C-containing NMDA receptor also shows differences in alcohol sensitivity. GluN2C-containing NMDA

receptors are less sensitive to ethanol compared to GluN2A- and GluN2Bcontaining NMDA receptors[121-123]. To fill the gap and better understand the function of GluN2C subunit, we will focus on studying the molecular mechanism of alcohol modulation of GluN2C-containing NMDAR.

Chapter 2. Material and Methods

Materials

Ethanol (95%, prepared from grain) will be obtained from Aaper Alcohol & Chemical Co. (Shelbyville, KY), and all other drugs will be obtained from Sigma. Chemicals used to make recording solutions were the highest purity available.

Molecular Biology, Cell Culture, and Transfection

Site-directed mutagenesis in plasmids containing GluN1 or GluN2C subunit cDNA was performed using the QuikChange II kit (Agilent Technologies, Santa Clara, CA), and all mutants were verified by double-strand DNA sequencing. TSA201 cells, a transformed human kidney 293 cell line, were maintained in flasks containing serum supplemented Dulbecco's minimum Eagle medium in a humidified 5% CO₂ incubator. For recordings, cells were plated onto fibronectin-coated 35mm dishes at high-density (approximately 5 × 10⁵ cells per dish) and transfected with GluN1, GluN2C, and green fluorescent protein (GFP) using the calcium phosphate transfection kit (Invitrogen). 10mM magnesium chloride (MgCl₂) was added to the culture medium to prevent excitotoxic cell death. MgCl₂ was removed before use in experiments by extensive washing. Cells were used in experiments 24-48h after transfection.

Electrophysiological Recording

Whole-cell patch-clamp recording was performed at room temperature using an Axon 200B amplifier (Molecular Devices, Sunnyvale, CA). Patch pipettes $(1-3 M\Omega)$ were pulled from borosilicate glass and filled with internal solution containing 140 mM CsCl, 2 mM Mg₄ATP, 10 mM BAPTA, and 10 mM HEPES (pH 7.2). The recording solution containing 150 mm NaCl, 5 mmKCl, 0.2 mm CaCl₂, 10 mm HEPES, 10 mm glucose, and 10 mm sucrose. The ratio of added HEPES-free acid and sodium salt was calculated to result in a solution pH of 7.4 (Buffer Calculator, R. Beynon, University of Liverpool). Solutions of agonists and ethanol were prepared fresh daily and applied to cells using a stepper motor-driven rapid solution exchange apparatus (Warner Instruments, Inc.) and 600-µm inner diameter square glass tubing. In concentrationresponse experiments, the order of application of the various concentrations of ethanol was randomized for each cell to eliminate time-dependent effects. Data were filtered at 2 kHz (8-pole Bessel) and acquired at 5 kHz on a computer using a DigiData interface and pClamp software (Axon Instruments).

Cysteine Cross-linking

Wild type and cysteine-substituted mutant receptors were treated with the reducing agent 10mM DTT for 3-5min. In the presence of 300 μ M glutamate, steady-state currents were measured. The effect of DTT was calculated by the

equation [(($I_{after}/I_{initial}$) – 1) × 100], where $I_{initial}$ and I_{after} are the stabilized current before and DTT treatment.

Molecular Modeling

The model of the MD of the heteromeric GluN1/GluN2C NMDAR was generated using the GluA2 (PDB-3KG2) as a template[1]. We first manually aligned the GluN1 and GluN2C sequences with the respective sequences of GluA2 as described in Supplemental Fig2. [1] in Discovery Studio 2.5 (Accelrys, San Diego, CA). Then we mutated Gly-638, Phe-639 and M821 into cysteines.

Data Analysis

In concentration-response experiments, IC_{50} or EC_{50} and *n* (slope factor) were calculated using the equation $\mathbf{y} = \mathbf{E}_{max}/1 + (IC_{50} \text{ or } EC_{50}/\mathbf{x})^n$, where \mathbf{y} is the measured current amplitude, \mathbf{x} is concentration, \mathbf{n} is the slope factor, and \mathbf{E}_{max} is the maximal current amplitude. Statistical differences among concentration-response curves were determined by comparing log transformed IC_{50} or EC_{50} values from fits to data obtained from individual cells using one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) followed by the Dunnett test.

Time constant (τ) of deactivation were determined from fits of the current decay after the removal of glutamate (in the continued presence of glycine) to an

exponential function using Clampfit (Axon Instruments/Molecular Devices). Cells were adequately fitted by a single exponential function.

Significant interactions respect to ethanol sensitivity, steady state current and deactivation among mutants were determined by two-way ANOVA and by mutant cycle analysis[124]. Natural logarithm (ln) transformed values of WT and mutant IC50 or EC50 or time constant (τ) values were used for computing interaction free energies by using the equation $\Delta\Delta G_{INT} = RT[ln(WT) + ln(mut1,mut2) - ln(mut1) - ln(mut2)]$, with propagated errors reported in standard error (SEM). $\Delta\Delta G_{INT} \pm$ error were analyzed using one-sample *t* test for statistical significance from zero energy, with degrees of freedom (df) = NwT + NMUT1 + NMUT2 + NMUT1,MUT2 - 4, where Nx = number of cells used for each combination of wild-type and mutant subunits.

Chapter 3. A Methionine (Met-821) Position in the M4 Domain of GluN2C

Subunit Can Alter Ethanol Sensitivity.

Introduction

Alcohol, one of the oldest and most widely abused drugs in the world, produces its effects primarily via actions on ion channels in the nervous system. The Nmethyl-D-aspartate (NMDA) receptor, a subtype of ionotropic glutamate receptor family, has been demonstrated to be a major target in mediating the inhibitory effects of alcohols in the mammalian brain. Chronic ethanol exposure can result in up-regulation of NMDA receptor function and enhanced glutamatemediated excitotoxicity[125-128]. The Lovinger and colleagues first showed that acute ethanol exposure can inhibit NMDA-activated currents in hippocampal neurons. In the following studies, ethanol inhibition on NMDARs activities also has been demonstrated by measuring NMDARs-mediated excitatory postsynaptic potentials/currents (EPSPs/EPSCs) in various slices from many different brain regions, such as cortex[92, 93], amygdala[94], nucleus accumbens[95, 96], hippocampus[91], and dorsal striatum[97, 98]. Similar inhibitory effects of ethanol were also observed in cell lines, like HEK293 cells, expressing recombinant NMDARs. In single-channel studies, mean open time and frequency of channel opening are decreased in the presence of ethanol[92].

The NMDAR is heterotetramer, composed of two GluN1 subunits with either two GluN2 subunits or a combination of GluN2 and GluN3 subunits[14-16]. The GluN2 subunit contains four subtypes (A-D) that arise from separate genes, whereas the GluN1 subunit has eight isoforms that are generated by alternative splicing of a single gene[129]. The subunit compositions affects the physiological and pharmacological properties of the NMDARs[8]. All 32 combinations of GluN1/GluN2 subunits have been examined in the presence of 100mM ethanol. Generally, receptors containing GluN2A and GluN2B subunits are more sensitive to ethanol inhibition than receptors containing GluN2C and GluN2D subunits[47], suggesting subunit composition can influence ethanol sensitivity.

Because ethanol and NMDARs antagonists produce similar inhibitory effects on receptor activities *in vivo* and *in vitro*, an initial question was whether ethanol was a NMDAR antagonist binding in the agonist binding site. However, a number of studies showed the effect of ethanol only decreased E_{max} values of the concentration-response curve without affecting EC_{50} values which indicates that ethanol inhibit NMDARs activity in a non-competitive manner[86, 99, 101-103]. Peoples *et al.* (1996) showed ethanol inhibition on NMDARs did not involve substantial changes in fast closed state kinetics, changes in open channel conductance, or block of the open channel[92] and there was no effect on ethanol inhibition of NMDA-activated currents even in the presence of different concentrations of Mg²⁺ in cultured cortical neurons[103], which indicates that alcohol molecule binding sites are not in the channel pore. Taken together, there is no evidence that alcohol binding sites are in the extracellular structure of the NMDARs and suggests ethanol may affect NMDARs activities via effects on lipids or other intracellular proteins, such as protein kinase C (PKC). Snell *et al.* (1994) demonstrated the involvement of PKC in ethanolinduced inhibition of NMDARs in cerebellar granule cells[108]. In contrast, Peoples and Stewart (2002) showed C-terminal truncation mutant did not abolish the effect of ethanol on the NMDARs[99]. This result argues against the possibility that the alcohol inhibition on NMDARs is mediated via intracellular part of the receptors.

Results from mutagenesis studies with alcohol- and anesthetic-sensitive γaminobutyric acid A (GABA_A) and glycine receptors showed that mutation at a serine residue in the second transmembrane (TM2) domain or an alanine residue in the third transmembrane (TM3) domain greatly affected the potentiation of GABA_A and glycine channel function by ethanol and volatile anesthetics[109]. Larger amino acids in the ethanol sensitive positions produce inhibition, while smaller amino acids producing enhanced potentiation. Although the sequence and structural homology between GABA_A and glycine and glutamate receptors are extremely low, it is likely that ethanol sensitive sites exist in the M domains of the NMDARs. The membrane-associated domains (MD) of the NMDARs are composed of four segments, including M1, M3, M4 spanning the membrane [130-133] and M2 forming a reentrant loop[134]. Using the substituted cysteine accessibility method (SCAM)[135], cysteine substitution mutants were generated to identify channel-lining residues of the GluN1 subunit[136]. Within the M1 segment, all nine consecutive positions (W545-H553) were not accessible to the cysteinespecific methanethiosulfonate (MTS) reagents in the presence of glutamate, in contrast the preM1 segment, defined as the segment further N-terminal to the M1 segment, were accessible to both MTS-ethylammonium (MTSEA) and the larger MTS-ethyltrimethylammonium (MTSET). These reagents can covalently link their positively charged -S-CH₂-CH₂-NH₃⁺ or -S-CH₂-CH₂-N(CH₃)₃⁺ groups to the sulfhydryl groups of cysteines exposed to the water-accessible surface of the channel [134]. The overall pattern of accessibility for MTSEA and MTSET suggests that positions in preM1, but not in M1 itself, are exposed at the wateraccessible surface of the extracellular vestibule[136]. The SCAM results also shows that the regions C-terminal to M3 and N-terminal to M4 are also the primary determinants of the extracellular vestibule[136]. The residues in the M3 and M4 domains are mainly involved in channel-lining.

The Woodward group first examined whether positions in the M domains alter ethanol sensitivity. Alanine substitutions at several residues within the preM1, M1, and M2 domains did not produce significant changes in ethanol sensitivity. In contrast, alanine mutation at GluN1 (Phe-639)/GluN2A yielded significantly less sensitive to ethanol than wild type[137]. Tryptophan substitution at this position produces slightly more sensitivity to ethanol inhibition than wild type. These results may suggest that the physical or chemical properties of the amino acid substitution at this position may be an important determinant of ethanol sensitivity[137]. The Phe-639 residue is highly conserved through all GluN1 and GluN2 subunits, suggesting a key role for this residue. Coexpressing either GluN1 (F639A)/GluN2B or GluN1 (F639A)/GluN2C also produce significantly less sensitivity, which is consistent with the results observed from mutant combination GluN1 (F639A)/GluN2A[137]. Although the F639A mutation significantly reduced ethanol sensitivity of all mutant combinations NDMARs, it did not fully eliminate ethanol inhibition, indicating there may be other ethanol sensitive sites or the cognate sites in the GluN2 subunits also play a critical role in altering ethanol sensitivity.

Based on the assumption that additional site or sites of alcohol action in one of the M domains exists, we used tryptophan scanning mutagenesis and found a highly conserved methionine residue in the M4 domain of GluN2A subunit can influence NMDARs alcohol sensitivity in a manner that is related both to desensitization of the ion channel and the physical and chemical properties of the substituent amino acid[111]. GluN2A(M823C), GluN2A(M823S), and GluN2A(M823W) produced the lowest sensitivity to ethanol, whereas GluN2A(M823F), GluN2A(M823L), and GluN2A(M823Y) resulted in the highest sensitivity to ethanol[111]. In the studies of alcohol action of GABA_A and glycine receptors, it has been shown that the physical and chemical properties of substituent amino acid play a determinant role of ethanol sensitivity. Linear regression analysis of alcohol sensitivity versus hydropathy, hydrophilicity, hydrogen bonding, molecular volume, and polarity of the substituent was performed and significant linear relationships were observed between ethanol IC₅₀ and both hydrophilicity and molecular volume[111].

It should be noted that either GluN1 (Phe-639) or GluN2A (Met-823) are not able to completely eliminate the inhibitory effects of alcohol, which indicates alcohol molecule acts on multiple sites of the NMDARs. In the following studies of scanning ethanol sensitive sites, a series positions of alcohol action are identified in both GluN1 and GluN2A subunit, Gly-638 in the M3 domain of the GluN1 subunit, the cognate positions Phe-636, Phe-637, Met-823, Ala825 in GluN2A subunit[110, 111, 113-115]. Taken together, these ethanol sensitive sites are hydrophobic amino acid; are not involved in lining the ion channel lumen; influence ion channel gating properties.

In previous studies of the role of GluN1 (Phe-639) in alcohol sensitivity modulation, similar significant reduced ethanol sensitivity were observed among the different GluN2 subunit containing NMDARs[137]. Although
GluN2C-containing NMDAR is much less sensitivity to ethanol compared to GluN2A- and GluN2B-containing NDMARs, the mutant combination GluN1 (Phe-639)/GluN2C is still markedly less than its wild type[137]. The methionine residue is highly conserved among all GluN2 subunits and has been shown to play a critical role in alcohol action modulation in GluN2A-containing NMDAR[111]. So, it is likely this methionine residue can influence ethanol sensitivity in the GluN2C-containing NMDAR. Figure 2 shows the model of the GluN2C subunit with the membrane-associated domains (M1-M4), and the presumed location of Met-821 residue in the M4 domain of GluN2C subunit.

Results

Ethanol Inhibition by Various GluN2 Subunits at the Methionine Residue

in M4.

According to the previous studies in this laboratory, a methionine residue in M4 domain of the GluN2A subunit not only regulates ethanol sensitivity, but influences ion channel gating[110, 111]. To determine whether the effects of the methionine residue on ethanol sensitivity are consistent through the GluN2 subunits, GluN2A (M823W), GluN2B (M824W), and GluN2C (M821W) were coexpressed with GluN1 subunit. Surprisingly, ethanol sensitivity of GluN2 subunits with tryptophan substitution at the methionine residue exhibited

differently that determined for their respective wild type counterparts (Figure 3). As reported previously, GluN2A (M823W) showed significantly decreased ethanol sensitivity[111]; in contrast, GluN2C (M821W) showed significantly increased ethanol sensitivity. There was no significant difference between wild type GluN2B and GluN2B (M824W). The slope factors of the ethanol concentration-response curves did not differ significantly among the subunits.

Mutations at Met-821 Can Alter Ethanol Sensitivity and Glutamate

Activation.

Since the GluN2C (Met-821) position involved in altering ethanol sensitivity, we made 14 mutations at the methionine position to determine how this position regulates ethanol sensitivity. There were 7 mutations yielded functional receptors and were tested inhibited by ethanol in a concentration-dependent manner. Ethanol IC₅₀ values among the mutants varied ranging from 138 to 215 mM (ANOVA, p < 0.0001).The slope factors of the ethanol concentration-response curves did not differ significantly among the various mutants. Expression of the mutant subunits GluN2C (M821L), GluN2C (M821S), GluN2C (M821W) with GluN1 subunits resulted in the highest sensitivity to ethanol. Tryptophan, the largest and most hydrophobic amino acid, unsurprisingly produced the greatest effect of alcohol action on the receptor with ethanol IC₅₀ value of 138 mM. Alanine, the smallest hydrophobic amino

acid that is unlikely to destabilize α-helical regions, is predicted to eliminate or diminish hydrophobic interactions present between larger side chains. However, GluN2C (M821A) did not alter ethanol sensitivity(Figure 4).

Surprisingly, a number of amino acid substitutions at this site yielded nonfunctional receptors. M821D, M821F, M821G, M821N, M821R, M821V, M821Y exhibited abnormal ion channel function. The abnormal functional mutants exhibited small spontaneous currents with apparent ethanol inhibition. This is the first time in this laboratory we observed ion channel behavior like these mutants(Figure 4).

Ethanol Sensitivity is Independent of the Physical and Chemical

Properties of the Substituent at GluN2C (Met-821).

In the previous study showing that GluN2A (M823W) can alter ethanol sensitivity of the GluN2A-containing NMDAR, a linear relation was observed between ethanol IC₅₀ and hydrophilicity ($R^2 = 0.522$; p < 0.05) and molecular volume ($R^2 = 0.683$; p < 0.005) of the substituent[111]. If the observed changes in ethanol sensitivity among the GluN2C (Met-821) mutant subunits were due to a direct interaction of ethanol with this site, a significant linear relation of ethanol IC₅₀ with the physical and chemical properties of the amino acid substituent at this site is expected. To evaluate the relative contribution of the

physicochemical parameters of the amino acid at this site to alcohol sensitivity, linear regression analysis of ethanol IC₅₀ values versus hydropathy, hydrophilicity, molecular volume and polarity of the substituent were performed[111]. There was no significant linear relation observed between ethanol IC₅₀ values and hydropathy ($R^2 = 0.007$; p > 0.05), hydrophilicity ($R^2 =$ 0.09; p > 0.05), molecular volume ($R^2 = 0.205$; p > 0.05), or polarity ($R^2 =$ 0.047; p > 0.05) (Figure 5). Although we did not detect any correlation, we observed a positive trend between ethanol IC₅₀ values and hydrophilicity, and a negative trend between ethanol IC₅₀ values and molecular volume, which may due to missing plots. There were seven mutations that showed abnormal glutamate activation.

Triheteromeric GluN1/GluN2A/GluN2C M821G NMDAR Can Restore Ion

Channel Gating Function.

Mutations at the methionine residue yielded abnormal functional mutants, including M821D, M821F, M821G, M821N, M821R, M821V, M821Y. It is likely that the P_o of these mutants may be too low for detecting glutamate-activated currents. So, we coexpressed GluN1, GluN2A, GluN2C subunits to form triheteromeric NMDARs, in which GluN2A subunit increases the P_o of the receptors and stabilize the conformation to induce channel gating. Because GluN2A subunit is supposed to contain a high affinity Zn²⁺ binding site in the

ATD[138], whereas GluN2C subunit does not, diheteromeric GluN1/GluN2A NMDAR is highly sensitivity to Zn²⁺ modulation. 200nm Zn²⁺ is sufficient to cause almost 100% inhibition on the diheteromeric GluN1/GluN2A NMDAR[139]. Triheteromeric GluN1/GluN2A/GluN2C NMDAR restores half sensitivity to nanomolar Zn²⁺ modulation[139]. We observed similar effects that 200 Zn²⁺ inhibited almost all diheteromeric GluN1/GluN2A NMDAR and diheteromeric GluN1/GluN2C, GluN1/GluN2C M821G NMDARs was not sensitive to nanomolar concentration Zn²⁺ inhibition and triheteromeric GluN1/GluN2A/GluN2C NMDAR restores half sensitivity to Zn²⁺. We then coexpressed triheteromeric GluN1/GluN2A/GluN2C M821G NMDAR, which yielded functional receptor and Zn2+ produced half inhibition on the triheteromeric receptor(Figure 6). The functional triheteromeric GluN1/GluN2A/GluN2C M821G NMDAR seems to restore agonist sensitivity because a GluN2A subunit may induce receptor gating by inducing activation of the GluN2C (M821G) subunit.

Discussion

The results of the present study demonstrate that mutations at the highly conserved methionine (Met-821) in the M4 domain of the GluN2C subunit can influence ethanol sensitivity of the GluN2C-containing NMDAR. As expected, the largest amino acid tryptophan produces largest change in the ethanol IC₅₀

values compared to wild type. In contrast, an alanine mutation at this position did not yield any significant change of ethanol sensitivity. These results are not in agreement with the hypothesis that alanine would alter ethanol sensitivity by eliminating or diminishing hydrophobic interactions present between larger side chains. We also observed a number of amino acid substitutions at this site yielding abnormal functional receptors, which did not exhibit glutamateactivated currents, but showed apparent ethanol inhibition in the presence of both glutamate and ethanol. Although it has been reported in the GluN2A (Met-823) paper that several nonfunctional receptors were yielded when methionine was replaced by other amino acid[111], this is the first observation that the channel did not open properly, but still responded to the inhibitory effects of ethanol.

Although diheteromeric GluN1/GluN2C (M821G) has abnormal function, triheteromeric GluN1/GluN2A/GluN2C (M821G) restored ion channel gating function. GluN2C-containing NMDAR has an extremely low open probability $(P_o \sim 1\%)$ [64], and a lower single-channel conductance of approximately 35pS[20, 118]. In contrast, NMDAR containing GluN2A subunit has a 50-fold greater open probability ($P_o \sim 50\%$) compared to GluN2C-containing NMDAR[140]. The subunit-specific gating of NMDARs is controlled by the region formed by the ATD of the GluN2 subunit[140]. Moreover, single-channel analysis from mutations at GluN2A (M823) showed the substitutions at this position can alter ion channel gating[110]. Taken together, it is likely that abnormal functional mutants have an extremely low open probability, which resulted in negligible glutamate-activated currents, but the coincidently opened channel still responded to ethanol and exhibited ethanol inhibition of these currents. Triheteromeric GluN1/GluN2A/GluN2C (M821G) NMDAR containing an ATD from the GluN2A subunit increases open probability and induces the channel to gate properly.

The functional mutations at Met-821 residue all produced glutamate-activated currents and ethanol-inhibited currents. The ethanol IC_{50} values among the mutants are all different: M821L, M821S, and M821W mutants produced the highest sensitivity to ethanol. Taken together with our previous studies in GluN2A[111], this suggests that some physical or chemical properties of the amino acid substitution at this position may be an important determinant of ethanol sensitivity[109]. We thus expected a significant linear relation of ethanol IC_{50} with the physical and chemical properties of the amino acid substituent at this site. However, the results showed no correlation between ethanol IC_{50} values and any physicochemical parameters of the amino acid, suggesting ethanol sensitivity is not simply represented by physical and chemical properties of the substituent at GluN2C (Met-821).

It has been reported that alcohols and anesthetics bind to the sites between M2 and M3 domains of GABA_A and glycine receptors and regulate channel function in a molecular volume dependent manner[109, 141-143]. Our lab reported a similar volume occupation effect at GluN2A (Met-823): a significant linear relation of ethanol sensitivity with molecular volume was observed when the value for the tryptophan mutant was excluded from the analysis[111]. All the evidence above suggested that the action of alcohol molecule involves filling a critical volume in a cavity formed in part by this site and the presence of a tryptophan, with the largest side chain, severely disrupts normal channel function and ethanol inhibition[111]. However, in the case of the GluN2C subunit, the increased ethanol sensitivity of the tryptophan mutant at Met-821 is in agreement with the volume occupation theory, and suggests that tryptophan does not disrupt channel function or the ability to interact with the alcohol molecule.

In the study of GluN1(Phe639), it has been shown that F639W can alter ethanol sensitivity in a non GluN2 subunit dependent way such that any GluN2 subunit coexpressed with GluN1(F639W) showed reduced inhibitory effects of 100 mM ethanol compared to their respective wild type counterparts[137]. Although like the phenylalanine residue, the methionine residue in the M4 domain is highly conserved through all GluN2 subunits, comparison between wild type and tryptophan mutants among GluN2 subunits showed that the methionine

position regulates ethanol sensitivity in a GluN2 subunit dependent manner. GluN2A (M823W) showed significantly decreased ethanol sensitivity, whereas GluN2C (M821W) significantly increased ethanol sensitivity, and there was no significant difference in ethanol sensitivity between the wild type GluN2B and GluN2B (M824W). These results are consistent with our previous evidence that alcohol action involves multiple adjacent residues that form a small environment to regulate ethanol sensitivity together [114]. In addition to the Met-823 residue, our lab found a phenylalanine residue in the M3 domain of the GluN2A subunit, the cognate site of GluN1 (Phe-639). Dual mutations at Phe-637 and Met823 in GluN2A subunit can influence ethanol sensitivity and receptor kinetics, which suggests that these two positions are functionally linked because modulation of ethanol by dual mutants is not additive[116]. Functional interactions not only occur between the residues within M3 and M4 domains in the same subunit, but direct interactions can also be observed between residues in the M3 and M4 domains from different subunits. By using two-way ANOVA and mutant cycle analysis of log-transformed ethanol IC50 values, significant interactions affecting ethanol inhibition were observed between multiple intersubunit M3/M4 domain pairs, including GluN1 (G638W)/GluN2A(M823W) [114]. Unlike the interaction between Phe637 and Met823 in the GluN2A subunit, the side chains of these interacting residues are in close proximity[114].

Considering the important role of GluN2C (Met-821) in regulation of alcohol action, we studied its role in altering ion channel gating and its possible interactions with other residues to affect ethanol sensitivity in the following studies.

Chapter 4. A Methionine In the M4 Domain of the GluN2C Subunit Can

Alter Ion Channel Gating.

Introduction

Ionotropic glutamate receptors, including NMDA, AMPA, kainate, and delta receptors, are integral membrane proteins composed of four large subunits, which form a central ion channel pore. High similarity in sequence alignment among the ionotropic glutamate receptors family suggests that these receptors share a similar architecture. A glutamate receptor subunit contains four discrete semiautonomous domains: the amino-terminal domain (ATD), the ligand-binding domain (LBD), the membrane-associated domain (MD), and the carboxyl-terminal domain (CTD)[1].

The ATDs share sequence homology and structurally similarities with the LBD[1]. To study the function of the ATDs, numerous mutant subunits have been constructed including those lacking the entire ATD[73, 144-151]. Truncations in the ATD do not affect receptor assembly, and there are functional similarities between the truncated mutants and wild type receptor, suggesting a nonessential, regulatory role of the ATD for core function[10]. Evidence that the ATD can influence open probability, deactivation, desensitization, and subunit-specific assembly is consistent with regulatory

roles of the ATD[72, 140, 152-155]. Moreover, the ATD also harbors binding sites for divalent cations, such as Zn^{2+} [72], and subunit-selective negative allosteric modulators, such as ifenprodil[156]. The ATD has a clamshell-like structure, composed of two lobes-R1 and R2, tethered together by loops[150]. Binding of Zn^{2+} to GluN2A or ifenprodil to GluN2B subunits seems to stabilize a closed-cleft conformation of the ATD[150].

The LBD also has a clamshell-like architecture containing two lobes-S1 and S2, which are structurally similar to the ATD[157]. The S1 was identified by the region of extracellular N-terminal domain preceding the PreM1 domain, and S2 is the loop between the M3 and M4 domains[157-160]. Between the S1 and S2 segment, there is an agonist binding pocket[1, 161, 162]. The activation of glutamate receptors involves simultaneous binding of agonists, such as glutamate, NMDA, and the coagonists, such as glycine or D-serine, to the GluN2 and GluN1 subunits, which leads to conformational change to enclose the agonists in the binding sites [157, 161, 163]. This conformational event triggers the subsequent transition of the channel pore into an open state[10, 164, 165]. In the open state, both the LBD and MD are in an unstabilized state, and stability can be restored by LBD reopening to allow agonist dissociation[10, 164, 165]. In the agonist-bound state, the LBD dimer interface will go through a rearrangement, allowing the receptor to enter a desensitized state[166-168]. Other forms of apparent NMDAR desensitization are related to glycine[60, 61]

or intracellular Ca²⁺[61-63], and real or apparent ion channel desensitization can influence the amplitude, duration, and following frequency of NMDA-mediated synaptic events[61].

The MD is connected to the LBD by three short peptide linkers[1]. The MD of the NMDARs is composed of four segments, M1, M3, and M4 which span the membrane[130-133] and M2 which forms a reentrant loop[134]. The transmembrane helices M2 and M3 from each of the four subunits contribute to formation of the channel pore. In the previous chapter, we have discussed SCAM results of the MD. According to the cysteine substitution channel-lining experiments, the overall pattern of accessibility for MTSEA and MTSET suggests that preM1, but not M1 itself, are exposed at the water-accessible surface of the extracellular vestibule and the regions C-terminal to M3 and Nterminal to M4 are also the primary determinants of the extracellular vestibule[136].

Unlike other domains, the CTD is the most diverse one, varying in sequence and length among the glutamate receptor family[10]. The CTD mainly involves in regulatory effects on receptor localization and function. The CTD of GluN1 subunit contains a number of regulatory protein binding sites, including sites for Ca2+/calmodulin[169], scaffold proteins as well as phosphorylation sites for protein kinase A (PKA), and protein kinase C (PKC)[170, 171]. Although the functional role of each structural element in the entire subunit has been well characterized, the nature of the conformational changes and molecular determinants underlying NMDARs are still largely unknown. Numerous evidence shows that the LBD is structurally and functionally linked to the MD. The dynamics between these two structural elements can affect each other reciprocally. From the early work on GluN1 (F639W), it is known that this position not only alters alcohol action of the NMDARs, but affects channel properties, such as glycine potency. The increased affinity for glycine but not glutamate[137] is consistent with the evidence that GluN1 subunit contains glycine binding site, whereas GluN2 subunits provide glutamate binding sites[1]. Our previous work on GluN2A (M823W) showed that mutation at the methionine position only altered the steady state glutamate EC_{50} values, instead of glycine EC₅₀ values[110]. Taken together, sites in the MD also can influence ion channel gating and may be involved in transducing agonist binding into ion channel gating[110, 172, 173]. Mutations at MD not only affect agonist potencies, but receptor kinetics, such as mean open time (MOT), deactivation, and desensitization. GluN2A (M823W) mutant receptors have dramatically altered apparent desensitization, and increased mean open time[110]. GluN2A (F637W) and (F636W) mutant receptors also show alterations in glutamate potency, desensitization and MOT.

Effects of mutations at GluN2C (Met-821) on glutamate potency and

desensitization.

According to previous work on the cognate site GluN2A (Met-823), mutations at this position not only affected alcohol action of the receptors, but physiological characteristics, such as glutamate potency and desensitization. To test whether the GluN2C (Met-821) residue can also affect glutamate sensitivity and desensitization, we performed concentration-response experiments for glutamate in the functional mutants using a rapid solution exchange apparatus in lifted cells. For the functional mutants, significant differences were obtained in the EC₅₀ values for glutamate-activated peak (P<0.001; ANOVA) and steady-state (P<0.001; ANOVA) current and for the steady-state to peak current ratio (I_{ss} : I_p ; P<0.0001; ANOVA). The EC₅₀ values for glutamate-activated peak current were altered among the majority of functional mutants, but the EC₅₀ values for steady-state current were changed only in the M821I, M821L, and M821S mutants. Surprisingly, the tryptophan mutant only had a difference in the peak EC₅₀ value, but not steady-state EC₅₀ value. The slope factors of the glutamate concentration-response curves for both peak and steady-state did not differ significantly from the wild type values in any of the mutants. Apparent desensitization was affected by most of the

mutations, even when steady-state EC_{50} values were unchanged. It also should be noted that there was no observable desensitization in the wild type GluN2C subunit(Figure 7).

In the previous studies, we reported that a linear correlation was obtained between either peak EC₅₀ values *versus* steady-state EC₅₀ values or peak/steady-state EC₅₀ values *versus* the steady-state to peak current ratio $(I_{ss}:I_p)$ [110, 113]. However, we did not obtain any kind of correlation (Figure 8).

Effects of GluN2C (Met-821) Mutants on Deactivation.

One of the prominent features of glutamate receptors in gating kinetics are time course of deactivation, which mediate a majority of excitatory synaptic transmission. One unique physiological property of GluN2-containing NMDAR is unusually prolonged deactivation time course following the removal of glutamate. To measure the maximal response, the co-agonist glycine was present in all solutions (50µM), which saturated all the glycine binding sites, and current responses were evoked with 300µM glutamate. GluN2C-containing NMDAR deactivated slowly with a single exponential time course with time constants ranging from 1098 to 2183 ms (Figure 9). We subsequently analyzed time constants of deactivation for other mutants at the Met-821 position. There was a significant difference among the mutants compared to wild type

(P<0.0001; ANOVA). M821L, M821T, M821W mutants have the most significant changes for the deactivation. It should be noted that the steady-state EC₅₀ value of tryptophan mutant does not have difference compared to wild type receptor, while deactivation time course of this mutant becomes faster than wild type.

Discussion

The results of the present study demonstrate that alcohol sensitive position Met-821 in the M4 domain of the GluN2C subunit is involved in regulating ion channel gating and receptor kinetics. The tryptophan mutant can alter glutamate-activated peak current, but not steady-state current EC_{50} values. The steady-state to peak current ratio (I_{58} : I_p) also changed because of the attribution of the significantly increased peak EC_{50} values. We performed linear regression analysis between either peak EC_{50} values *versus* steady-state EC_{50} values or peak/steady-state EC_{50} values *versus* the steady-state to peak current ratio, and found that there was no correlation between any of these pharmacological parameters. In the studies of cognate site GluN2A (Met-823), we reported that steady-state EC_{50} values were highly correlated with steady-state to peak current ratio, which was interpreted as agonist trapping on desensitized receptors causing increased affinity[110]. The present studies of GluN2C (Met-823) showed that a majority of mutations at these position significantly increase

the peak EC₅₀ values without affecting the steady-state EC₅₀ values. In contrast, mutations at GluN2A (Met-823) only affected steady-state EC₅₀ values instead of peak EC₅₀ values[110]. Taken together, the underlying mechanism at Met-821 appears to differ from the trapping mechanism observed at GluN2A (Met-823).

GluN2C-containing NMDAR deactivated slowly with a single exponential time course with time constants ranging from 1098 to 2183 ms, which is approximately 40-fold longer compared to receptors containing GluN2A[66, 174]. The deactivation tau of the M821W mutant 1291±160 ms, is significantly different from wild-type and other mutants at this position. Several lines of investigation have identified there are several factors that can regulate deactivation time constant of NMDARs, such as the rates of ligand association and dissociation, which are the primary determinants of the deactivation time course[10]. We have showed that dual tryptophan mutant combinations GluN1 (L819W)/GluN2A (F637W) can significantly interact with each other to alter deactivation[114]. The observations in this study provide additional evidence that mutations at MD also can affect time course of deactivation.

Chapter 5. A Methionine (Met-821) Position in the M4 Domain of GluN2C

Subunit Can Interact with Positions in the M3 Domains of GluN1 Subunit.

Introduction

Ethanol is one of the common drugs of abuse and acts at high concentrations (millimolar) on multiple targets in the central nervous system to regulate neuronal activities [2, 3]. Among those are mainly channels gated by the neurotransmitter glutamate, the major excitatory neurotransmitter in the mammalian brain. The N-methyl-D-aspartate (NMDA) receptors, subtypes belonging to the glutamate receptor family, play the most crucial role for the inhibitory effect of ethanol[84, 85]. The first evidence that ethanol inhibited NMDAR evoked currents in hippocampal neurons was shown by Lovinger et al. (1989)[91]. Subsequent studies using radiolabeled neurotransmitter release, calcium uptake, and ratiometric calcium indicators confirmed that NMDARs are inhibited by alcohol across a wide range of brain regions [175]. Although there is numerous studies leading to the conclusion that ethanol inhibits NMDAR function, the mechanism of alcohol action remains unclear. The inhibitory effect of alcohol action on NMDA-evoked currents is in a voltage-independent manner and is not involved in altering single channel conductance, suggesting that alcohol molecule does not act as an ion channel pore blocker[92, 176]. There is also evidence showing that ethanol inhibition is not relate to competitive inhibition at the glycine and glutamate binding sites[86, 101, 103, 107, 123], or allosteric modulation[103, 121]. In addition, although the phosphorylation sites in the CTD, in some instances, modulate ethanol sensitivity of the NMDARs[95, 175, 177], receptors lacking the CTD still show sensitivity to ethanol[99].

Ronald et al. first found a phenylalanine residue (Phe-639) in the M3 domain of the GluN1 subunit influences alcohol sensitivity[137]. The previous studies from our laboratory also identified a number of alcohol sensitive sites, including two phenylalanine residues (Phe-636) and (Phe-637) in the M3 domain of the GluN2A subunit[113, 115], a methionine residue (Met-823) and an alanine residue (Ala-825) in the M4 domain of the GluN2A subunit[111, 114]. Although these residues can alter ethanol sensitivity of NMDARs, mutations at these sites did not abolish ethanol inhibition. Studies in GABAA and glycine receptors showed residues in transmembrane domains two and three forming sites of alcohol and anesthetic action[109, 178]. Based on these results, we tested the role of dual tryptophan mutants GluN2A (F637W M23W) in influencing ethanol sensitivity and receptor function. We observed that dual mutations at Phe-637 and Met823 in GluN2A subunit can interactively influence ethanol sensitivity and receptor kinetics, which suggests that these two positions are functionally linked because modulation of ethanol by dual mutants is not additive[116]. After this study was performed, the high-resolution structure of an ionotropic glutamate receptor was reported [1]. Our group subsequently showed that sites

of alcohol action are formed by groups of 4-6 residues clustered in small regions at the M3-M4 intersubunit interfaces between GluN1 and GluN2A subunit[114]. By using two-way ANOVA and mutant cycle analysis of log-transformed ethanol IC50 values, significant interactions affecting ethanol inhibition were observed at four pairs of positions in GluN1/GluN2A: Gly-638/Met-823, Phe-639/Leu-824, Met-818/Phe-636, and Leu-819/Phe-637[114] (Figure 1). Unlike the functional interaction between Phe637 and Met823 in GluN2A subunit, these side chains appear to physically interact with one another, which is consistent with the proposed model that places these pairs of positions in close proximity [114].

Unlike GluN2A-containing NMDAR, which predominates in mammalian brain and has been shown to be involved in multiple brain functions, GluN2Ccontaining NMDAR are mainly expressed in cerebellar granule neurons[20, 25-27], thalamus[25], olfactory bulb[25], oligodendrocytes[117], and hippocampal interneurons[20]. The GluN2C subunit has unique electrophysiological and pharmacologic properties that differ from those of the GluN2A subunit. For example, the GluN2C-contianing NMDA receptor has a lower open probability, being open for only ~1% of the time during agonist activation[64], a lower singlechannel conductance, shorter open time[20, 118], higher affinity for the agonist and coagonist glutamate and glycine[57, 119], and much less sensitivity to ethanol compared to GluN2A-containing NMDAR[121-123]. To understand the role of GluN2C subunit in regulating ethanol sensitivity and channel gating function, the cognate position Met-821 in the M4 domain was substituted by tryptophan and showed different alcohol sensitivity, glutamate potency and desensitization. Dual tryptophan mutants GluN1 (G638W)/ GluN2C (M821W) and GluN1 (F639W)/ GluN2C (M821W) showed abnormal channel gating activity in the presence of glutamate, which may suggest apparent interactions between these two pairs of positions at the intersubunit interface in the M3 and M4 domains of the GluN1 and GluN2C subunits. In this study we introduced cysteine mutations in the GluN1 at G638, F639 and in the GluN2C at M821. Significant changes in ethanol sensitivity, agonist affinity, and deactivation have been observed and mutant cycle analysis also showed an interaction between the dual cysteine mutants. Based on these findings, we propose that two pairs of positions can interact and play a crucial role for ethanol sensitivity modulation and channel gating activity.

Results

Effects of Dual Tryptophan Mutants on Glutamate Activation.

Our previous studies have identified significant interactions altering ethanol sensitivity between the GluN1 (G638) and GluN2A (M823) positions[114]. We predicted that the cognate sites in GluN2C-containing NMDAR M3-M4 intersubunit interfaces would exhibit a similar interaction consistent with a site

of alcohol action. Using tryptophan substitution, we first tested whether single tryptophan mutants at GluN1 (G638), GluN1 (F639), GluN2C (M821) could alter ethanol sensitivity. Tryptophan is the largest amino acid and has consistently produced the greatest effect on ion channel behavior in previous studies from this laboratory[110, 111, 113-115]. All of the single tryptophan mutants exhibited increased alcohol sensitivity, in which the ethanol IC₅₀ value was significantly decreased (p <0.0001; ANOVA) (Figure 10). We next coexpressed either GluN1 (G638W) or GluN1 (F639W) with GluN2C (M821W), which is predicted to be in close proximity. However, neither G638W/M821W nor F639W/M821W exhibited observable glutamate-activated currents.

Coexpressed Cysteine Mutants in the M3 and M4 Domains of GluN1 and

GluN2C Subunits Interact to Regulate Ethanol Inhibition.

The GluN1 (G638W)/GluN2C (M821W) GluN1 (F639W)/GluN2C (M821W) dual tryptophan mutants were not sensitive to glutamate, but both mutants appeared to respond to ethanol, in that very small apparent spontaneous currents in these mutants were inhibited by 100mM ethanol. These may be due to the side chain of tryptophan at one position, which may interact with the side chain of the other one to disrupt the ion channel gating activity. To test whether the sites in the M3 and M4 domains intersubunit interfaces can interact, we made cysteine substitution at G638, F639 and M821 positions. All of the single cysteine

mutants did not alter ethanol sensitivity, but ethanol IC₅₀ value in the mutant combination G638C/M821C differed significantly from the wild type (p < 0.0001; ANOVA) (Figure 11). Interestingly, we observed the opposite results in the mutations F639C/C744A and F639C/C744A/M821C, in which the redox site Cys744 is substituted by alanine, decreased ethanol sensitivity. We next used both two-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) on log-transformed IC₅₀ values and mutant cycle analysis to calculate whether there were significant free energy changes. We found an interaction between the mutant combinations of G638C/M821C and G638C/C744A/M821C, as both types of analysis were statistically significant. In contrast, we did not detect any interaction in F639C/CM821C, but in F639C/C744A/M821C (Figure 12).

Coexpressed Cysteine Mutants in the M3 and M4 Domains of GluN1 and

GluN2C Subunits Can Regulate Glutamate Potency.

To determine whether dual cysteine mutants also influence glutamate potency, we compared EC₅₀ values for glutamate activation of steady-state currents. Both single cysteine mutants GluN1 (F639C) and GluN2C (M821C) showed different glutamate EC₅₀ values and highly significant differences were obtained in dual cysteine mutants F639C/C744A/M821C (p < 0.0001; ANOVA) (Figure 13). Interestingly, although G638C/M821C exhibited significantly altered IC₅₀ value, it was not involved in changing steady-state glutamate potency; F639C/M821C did not change ethanol sensitivity, but varied the agonist affinity. After removing the redox site Cys744, we observed both dual cysteine mutants G638C/C744A/M821C and F639C/C744A/M821C significantly altered glutamate EC₅₀ values.

Coexpressed Cysteine Mutants in the M3 and M4 Domains of GluN1 and

GluN2C Subunits Can Regulate NMDA Receptor Kinetics.

Our previous results have shown that dual tryptophan mutants GluN1 (G638W)/GluN2A (M823W) can interact to alter NMDA receptor kinetics[114]. If the side chain of cysteine at G638 or F639 in the GluN1 M3 domains interact with the side chain of cysteine at M821 in the GluN2C M4 domains and are involved in regulating ion channel function, dual cysteine mutants should also affect relevant ion channel behaviors. We measured time of decay among the mutants: the cysteine mutants containing redox site Cys744 all showed markedly decreased time constant of deactivation compared to wild type, while the mutants with C744A all increased the time of decay. We observed extremely prolonged deactivation in the mutant GluN1 (F639CC744A)/GluN2C (Figure 14). Then, we analyzed interactions among the dual cysteine mutants respect to deactivation. In the group containing redox site C744, although time constants of deactivation differed among the various mutants, we did not observed significant interactions with respect to deactivation between

G638C/M821C and F639C/M821C; while in the group with C744A, significant interaction was obtained in the mutant combination F639C/C744A/M821C (Figure 15).

Cross-linking Between Cysteine Substitutions in the M3 and M4 Domains

of GluN1 and GluN2C Subunits.

To confirm whether G638/F639 and M821 are sufficiently spatially proximal to interact, we examined the effects of applying the reducing reagent DTT among the mutants. Previous work from other laboratories has reported that a pair of cysteine residues, Cys744 and Cys798 in GluN1, is responsible for the potentiation of GluN1/GluN2A by DTT, and that redox modulation can be completely abolished in the mutant GluN1 (C744A, C798A)/GluN2C[179-181]. To eliminate the effect of endogenous redox sites, we substituted cysteine at C744 with alanine. However, we did not observe DTT-potentiated currents in either GluN1/GluN2C or GluN1(C744A)/GluN2C. We then examined the effects of DTT on all the single and dual cysteine mutations. As expected, significant potentiation was only obtained among dual cysteine mutants. There was no effect of DTT treatment on current amplitude in any single cysteine mutant. In contrast, when either the GluN1 (G638C) or GluN1 (F639C) mutants (with or without the C744A mutation) were expressed with GluN2C (M821C), DTT treatment significantly increased current amplitudes (Figure 16). We also

compared time constants of deactivation after DTT exposure among the mutants, and observed significant increases in time constants of decay in dual cysteine mutants containing the Cys744 residue, but not in those containing C744A (Figure 17).

Discussion

These experiments were aimed at determining whether residues in GluN1 M3 and GluN2C M4 at the intersubunit interfaces interact to alter ethanol sensitivity and NMDA receptor ion channel behavior. We have observed that single tryptophan substitutions at GluN1 (G638), GluN1 (F639), or GluN2C (M821) can alter ethanol IC₅₀ values, but neither GluN1 (G638W)/GluN2C (M821W) nor GluN1 (F639W)/GluN2C (M821W) receptors exhibit glutamate-activated current. However, both dual tryptophan mutants exhibit small-amplitude spontaneous currents that respond to ethanol. Apparent ethanol inhibition has been observed between these two mutants. These results are mostly in agreement with the results from our previous findings[114] and suggest apparent interaction between G638W/M821W or F639W/M821W may be too strong to disrupt NMDA receptor function. Based on the x-ray crystallographic structure of the GluA2 subunit[1] and the structural model of the NMDAR M domains[114], we predict these two pairs of residues are in close proximity to produce effects on ethanol sensitivity and NMDA receptor function.

Our previous work demonstrated that the side chains of one amino acid can interact with one another to alter ethanol sensitivity[114]. In this study, we made cysteine mutations at the above positions to determine the effects of amino acid side chain interaction. Using both two-way ANOVA and mutant cycle analysis, significant interaction was observed between GluN1 (G638C)/GluN2C (M821C), which is consistent with our previous results[114]. Redox site modulation experiments also demonstrated that a disulfide-bond is spontaneously formed between these two positions that alters current amplitude, and that the disulfide bond can be reduced by DTT to enhance glutamate-activated currents. Although this study does not directly answer the question about which coexpressed tryptophan mutations at GluN1 (G638)/GluN2C (M821) interacts to alter ethanol sensitivity and NMDA receptor function, we have demonstrated that the side chain of one cysteine can interact with one another in mediating the action of alcohol. These results are consistent with our previous findings in GluN1 (G638W)/GluN2A (M823W)[114].

NMDARs are regulated by an extracellular redox state and both GluN1 and GluN2 subunits are involved in redox modulation. Two disulfide bonds have been found within GluN1 subunit, including Cys744 and Cys798 in the LBD and SVC79ED and RGC308VG in the ATD[179, 181]; Cys87 and Cys320 are proposed to form a disulfide bond within the ATD of GluN2A subunit[150]. The

disulfide bonds formed within the ATD are responsible for the modification of the Zn²⁺ binding site[179], so in the present study, we only considered the endogenous redox site Cys744 and Cys798 and mutated the cysteine at C744 residue into alanine. In the study of ethanol inhibition, we found that only the dual cysteine mutant G638C/M821C altered ethanol sensitivity, as this mutant had decreased ethanol IC₅₀ values, whereas in the group with C744A, GluN1 (F639C/C744A) exhibited extremely low ethanol sensitivity and the dual cysteine mutation F639C/C744A/M821C also significantly decreased ethanol sensitivity. When we removed GluN1 (F639C/C744A)/GluN2C from the analysis group, a significant difference was obtained in the dual cysteine mutant GluN1 (G638C/C744A)/GluN2C (M821C). Although the involvement of Cys744 altered ethanol sensitivity among the mutants, the trend of change is similar in the group with or without C774A. Because the Cys744 is in the LBD, the change in this position may alter agonist affinity. In the glutamate concentrationresponse experiments, GluN1 (Cys-744)/GluN2C significantly decreased steady-state glutamate EC_{50} values compared to wild type GluN2C-containing NMDAR. The cysteine mutants containing C744A all showed decreased glutamate EC₅₀ values except the dual cysteine mutant G638C/C744A/M821C. Time of decay also showed that mutants containing C744A increased Tau values, which is consistent with the increased agonist affinity. Taken together, the cysteine mutants containing C744A alter ethanol sensitivity in an additive manner. The alcohol molecule acts on the membrane-associated domain

instead of the LBD as an antagonist[86, 99, 101-103, 111], so it is likely that the mutation at Cys744 causes a long distance effect on the conformational change of the MD to affect ethanol sensitivity. We have demonstrated that the change in the methionine position in the GluN2A subunit can cause agonist trapping in the LBD to alter ethanol sensitivity[110, 111], the change in the LBD may subsequently affect the alcohol action in the MD. In this study we used both mutant cycle analysis and two-way analysis of variance to test for interactions among dual cysteine mutants. Ethanol IC₅₀ values may represent fewer kinetic rates compared with steady-state glutamate EC₅₀ values. It has been demonstrated that the main action of ethanol on NMDAR kinetics is to decrease mean open time[92], whereas glutamate EC50 depends on both agonist binding and ion channel gating[114, 182]. Alcohol action in the mutants containing C744A may involve multiple kinetic rates, so we only analyzed the interaction among the dual cysteine mutants containing Cys744. A significant interaction with respect to ethanol sensitivity was obtained in the mutant combination G638C/M821C, but not in the mutant F639C/M821C.

The redox site modulation by reducing reagent DTT showed potentiated currents in all the dual cysteine mutants. The time constant of decay after DTT treatment was significantly increased in dual cysteine mutants containing Cys744. Breaking disulfide bonds between two pairs of cysteine residues in the GluN1 M3 and GluN2C M4 domain intersubunit interface can regulate receptor

kinetics. We showed that mutations at GluN2A (Met-823) can affect agonist affinity by trapping the agonist in the closed, desensitized state[110]. Although apparent desensitization was not changed by these mutations, these mutations are in domains involved in regulating gating and we obtained a significant interaction between G638C/M821C with respect to ethanol sensitivity. However, we did not detect a significant interaction with respect to deactivation in either G638C/M821C or F639C/M821C. The interaction we observed between the GluN1 M3 and GluN2C M4 domains cysteine residues may mainly alter the local conformational change, which is only reflected in a change in ethanol sensitivity.

In summary, taking the results of this study together with those of previous studies, we predict an interaction between G638C/M821C involved in regulating ethanol action on NMDAR(Figure 18). It will be of interest in future studies to test how adjacent amino acid side chains contribute to alter alcohol action and ion channel gating within the M3-M4 interfaces.

Chapter 6. General Discussion

We found that the GluN2C (Met-821) is an alcohol sensitive residue, which is also responsible for regulating ion channel gating. It is possible that observed changes in ethanol sensitivity among the mutants at the methionine position result from changes in agonist potency or ion channel gating kinetics. Plotting ethanol IC₅₀ values against both peak and steady-state glutamate EC₅₀ values revealed there is no correlation. A significant linear relation was obtained when ethanol IC₅₀ was plotted *versus* maximal *I*_{ss}:*I*_p values ($\mathbf{R}^2 = 0.501$; $\mathbf{P} < 0.05$) (Figure 19).

In the study of GluN2A (Met-823), we found that ethanol IC50 was negatively correlated with the maximal I_{ss} : I_p values, such that the greater the desensitization in a given mutant, the lower its ethanol sensitivity[111]. It is possible that GluN2A (Met-823) influences ethanol sensitivity indirectly via changes in desensitization. In contrast, we observed a positive linear relation between ethanol sensitivity and apparent desensitization among the various mutants at GluN2C (Met-821). Ethanol has been shown to influence desensitization in several ligand-gated ion channels, including *a*-amino-3-hydroxy-5-methyl-4-isoxazolepropionic acid receptor (AMPA)[183], 5-hydroxytryptamine (5-HT), and GABA receptors[184]. The opposite effects of mutations at GluN2C (Met-821), and its cognate position GluN2A (Met-823) on

ethanol sensitivity and desensitization may suggest that ethanol inhibition of NMDARs does not involve changes in desensitization.

Although mutants at GluN2C (Met-821) can alter glutamate EC₅₀ values, we did not detect any correlation between ethanol sensitivity and glutamate potency. Most mutants showed significantly increased peak glutamate EC₅₀ values, but not steady-state glutamate EC₅₀ values. It is possible that the alcohol molecule physically interacts with the M821 position and leads to the limited conformational changes only in the MD, which will not affect the conformation of the LBD. Unlike the trapping theory we observed in GluN2A (Met-823), the changes in the GluN2C (Met-821) position only cause short distance changes, which only alter the local environment.

Although highly homologous sequences are found among all the GluN2 subunits, several different amino acids are found in the M4 domain between GluN2A and GluN2C subunit (Figure 20). There is only one different residue in the M3 domain between GluN2A and GluN2C subunit, and it is located at the C-terminal end of the M3 domain. It is unlikely there is either a physical or functional interaction between that position and the sites in the M4 domain because of the very long distance. We then compared the amino acids near the methionine residue between GluN2A and GluN2C subunit. We found that the Ala-825 and Ala-826, which are downstream of the GluN2A (Met-823), are Leu-823 and Val-824 in the GluN2C subunit. Both leucine and valine are

hydrophobic amino acids and the side chains are larger than alanine. These two amino acids may form a small hydrophobic environment near the methionine position, which can significantly alter the alcohol molecule interacts with the GluN2C (Met-821) position. We also found another five different amino acids located near the C-terminal end of the M4 domain. However, the difference in the physical and chemical properties among these amino acids is not significant. So, it is unlikely those amino acids can cause long-term effects on the alcohol modulation of the GluN2C (Met-821) position.

In the present studies, we showed that the Met-821 position involved in regulating ethanol sensitivity and ion channel gating. We also showed Gly-638 and Met-821 positions in the M3-M4 intersubunit interfaces between GluN1 and GluN2C subunits interactively regulate ethanol sensitivity. The results we observed from GluN2C-containing NMDAR are different from the previous discoveries in the NMDAR containing GluN2A subunit. The difference may mainly lies in the sequence difference between GluN2A and GluN2C M4 domains and small hydrophobic environment formed near the methionine position.



Figure 1. The structural model of M domains of the NMDARs. Shown is a model of the NMDA receptor M domains from [1]. M domains of the GluN1 subunit are shown in *yellow*, and those of the GluN2A subunit are shown in *green*. Five alcohol sensitive positions are illustrated by CPK models.

| Α | 821 | |
|--------|------------|-------------------------|
| GluN1 | TFENMAGVF- | 4 LVAGGIVAGIFLIFIEIA |
| GluN2A | DIDNMAGVFY | LAAAMALSLITFIWEHLF |
| GluN2B | DIDNMAGVFY | LGAAMALSLITFICEHLF |
| GluN2C | DIDNMAGVFY | LLVAMGLALLVFAWEHLV |
| GluN2D | DIDNMAGVFY | LLVAMGLSLLVFAWEHLV |

В



Figure 2. A methionine residue in the M4 domain is highly conserved in all GluN subunit. A, shown is the sequences of the M4 domains of the GluN subunits. The *arrow* shows the position of the conserved methionine. B, model of the NMDA receptor M domains from [1]. Met-821 position is illustrated by CPK model.


Figure 3. Effects of ethanol on tryptophan mutations at the methionine residue in the M4 domain of GluN2 subunits. A, concentration-response curves for ethanol inhibition of glutamate-activated current in cells expressing tryptophan mutations in GluN2 subunits. Data are the means \pm S.E. of n = 6–9 cells; error bars not visible were smaller than the size of the symbols. Curves shown are the best fits to the equation given under "Methods" B, graphs plot IC₅₀ values for ethanol in tryptophan mutations in GluN2 subunits. Asterisks indicate IC₅₀ values that differed significantly from that for wild type (***, p < 0.001; ANOVA followed by Tukey's test).



Figure 4. Single mutations at Met-821 residue in the M4 domain of GluN2C subunit can alter ethanol inhibition. A, records are currents activated by 300 μ M glutamate and 50 μ M glycine in the absence and presence of 100mM ethanol in cells expressing various mutant GluN2C subunit. B, shown are concentration-response curves for ethanol inhibition of glutamate-activated current in cells expressing various single site substitution mutations in GluN2C. Data are the means ± S.E. of n = 6–9 cells; error bars not visible were smaller than the size of the symbols. Curves shown are the best fits to the equation given under "Methods" C, graphs plot IC₅₀ values for ethanol in various single site substitution mutations in GluN2C. Asterisks indicate IC₅₀ values that differed significantly from that for wild type GluN1/GluN2C subunits (**, p < 0.01 ***, p < 0.001; ANOVA followed by Dunnett's test).



Figure 5. Relation of amino acid physicochemical parameters of the substituent at Met-821 to ethanol sensitivity. Graphs plot Log IC₅₀ for ethanol versus hydrophilicity (A), molecular volume in Å³ (B), polarity (C), and LogP (D). The lines shown are the least-squares fits to the data. No significant linear relations were obtained between log IC₅₀ and physicochemical parameters of the substituents.



Figure 6. Triheteromeric GluN1/GluN2A/GluN2C M821G NMDAR Can Restore Ion Channel Gating Function. Records are currents activated by 300 μ M glutamate and 50 μ M glycine in the absence and presence of 200nM Zn²⁺ in cells expressing diheteromeric or triheteromeric NMDARs.



Figure 7. Single mutations at Met-821 residue in the M4 domain of GluN2C subunit can alter the EC₅₀ for peak and steady-state glutamateactivated current and apparent desensitization. A, records are currents activated by 300 µM glutamate in the presence of 50 µM glycine in cells expressing various mutant GluN2C subunit. B, concentration-response curves for glutamate-activated current in cells expressing various single site substitution mutations in GluN2C. Data are the means \pm S.E. of n = 6–9 cells; error bars not visible were smaller than the size of the symbols. Curves shown are the best fits to the equation given under "Methods" C, graphs plot glutamate EC₅₀ values in various single site substitution mutations in GluN2C. D, bar graph shows the average values of maximal steady-state to peak current ratio (I_{ss} : I_p) in lifted cells coexpressing GluN1 and WT GluN2C subunits or GluN2C subunits containing various mutations at M821. Asterisks indicate EC₅₀ values that differed significantly from that for wild type GluN1/GluN2C subunits (*, p < 0.05 **, p < 0.01 ***, p < 0.001; ANOVA followed by Dunnett's test).



Figure 8. Relationship between glutamate EC₅₀ and apparent desensitization. A, the graph plots values of glutamate log EC₅₀ for steady-state current versus values of glutamate log EC₅₀ for peak current in the series of mutants. Glutamate EC₅₀ values for peak and steady-state current were not statistically significantly correlated ($R^2 = 0.482$; P > 0.05). The line shown is the least-squares fit to the data. B-C, the graph plots the maximal I_{ss} : I_p versus peak (•) and steady-state (\circ) log EC₅₀ values for glutamate-activated current in various GluN2C(Met-821) mutant subunits. Maximal I_{ss} : I_p for glutamate was not correlated with steady-state glutamate log EC₅₀ ($R^2 = 0.092$; P > 0.05) and peak glutamate log EC₅₀ ($R^2 = 0.129$; P > 0.05). The lines shown are the least squares fits to the data: peak (solid line) and steady-state (dash line).



Figure 9. The deactivation time constant (τ) of substituent at GluN2C (Met-821). Bar graph shows the average values of deactivation time course in the presence of 300 300 µM glutamate and 50 µM glycine. Asterisks indicate Tau that differed significantly from that for wild type GluN1/GluN2C subunits (**, p < 0.01 ***, p < 0.001; ANOVA followed by Dunnett's test).



Figure 10. Single tryptophan mutations in the M3 and M4 domains of GluN1 and GluN2C subunits can alter ethanol inhibition. A, records are currents activated by 300 μ M glutamate and 50 μ M glycine in the absence and presence of 100mM ethanol in cells expressing various mutants. B, concentration-response curves for ethanol inhibition of glutamate-activated current in cells expressing various single tryptophan substitution mutations. Data are the means ± S.E. of n = 6–9 cells; error bars not visible were smaller than the size of the symbols. Curves shown are the best fits to the equation given under "Methods" C, graphs plot IC₅₀ values for ethanol in various single tryptophan substitution mutations. Asterisks indicate IC₅₀ values that differed significantly from that for wild type GluN1/GluN2C subunits (*, p < 0.05 ***, p < 0.001; ANOVA followed by Dunnett's test).



Figure 11. Cysteine mutations in the M3 and M4 domains of GluN1 and GluN2C subunits can alter ethanol inhibition. A, records are currents activated by 300 μ M glutamate and 50 μ M glycine in the absence and presence of 100mM ethanol in cells expressing various cysteine mutations. B, concentration-response curves for ethanol inhibition of glutamate-activated current in cells expressing various cysteine mutations. Data are the means ± S.E. of n = 6–9 cells; error bars not visible were smaller than the size of the symbols. Curves shown are the best fits to the equation given under "Methods" C, graphs plot IC₅₀ values for ethanol in various cysteine mutations. Asterisks indicate IC₅₀ values that differed significantly from that for wild type GluN1/GluN2C subunits (***, p < 0.001; ANOVA followed by Dunnett's test).



Figure 12. Positions in the GluN1 subunit M3 domain interact with GluN2C (Met-821) in M4 domain to regulate NMDA receptor ethanol sensitivity. A-D, graphs plot ethanol IC₅₀ values *versus* the substituent at position 638 or 639 in GluN1 for mutants at GluN2C position 821. *Asterisks* indicate significant interactions detected using log-transformed IC₅₀ values (**, p < 0.01; ****, p < 0.0001; two-way ANOVA) (left panel). Mutant cycle analysis of ethanol IC₅₀ values for the subunit combinations. Apparent free energy values associated with the various mutations (ΔG_x) are given in kcal mol⁻¹. *Asterisks* indicate a statistically significant difference of the apparent interaction energy $\Delta \Delta G_{INT}$ from zero energy determined using a one-sample *t* test (**, p < 0.01; ****, p < 0.0001) (right panel).



Figure 13. Cysteine mutations in the M3 and M4 domains of GluN1 and GluN2C subunits can alter the EC₅₀ for steady-state glutamateactivated current. A, records are currents activated by 300 μ M glutamate in the presence of 50 μ M glycine in cells expressing various cysteine mutations. B, concentration-response curves for glutamate-activated current in cells expressing various cysteine mutations. Data are the means \pm S.E. of n = 6–9 cells; error bars not visible were smaller than the size of the symbols. Curves shown are the best fits to the equation given under "Methods" C, graphs plot glutamate EC₅₀ values in various cysteine mutations. Asterisks indicate EC₅₀ values that differed significantly from that for wild type GluN1/GluN2C subunits (**, p < 0.01 ***, p < 0.001; ANOVA followed by Dunnett's test).



Figure 14. The deactivation time constant (τ) of cysteine mutations in the M3 and M4 domains of GluN1 and GluN2C subunits. Bar graph shows the average values of deactivation time course in the presence of 300 300 µM glutamate and 50 µM glycine. Asterisks indicate Tau values that differed significantly from that for wild type GluN1/GluN2C subunits (**, p < 0.01 ***, p < 0.001; ANOVA followed by Dunnett's test).



Figure 15. Positions in the GluN1 subunit M3 domain interact with GluN2C (Met-821) in M4 domain to regulate NMDA receptor deactivation time course. A-D, graphs plot deactivation time constants versus the substituent at position 638 or 639 in GluN1 for mutants at GluN2C position 821. Asterisks indicate significant interactions (****, *p* < 0.0001; two-way ANOVA) (left panel). Mutant cycle analysis of deactivation time constants for the subunit combinations. Apparent free energy values associated with the various mutations (ΔG_x) are given in kcal mol⁻¹. Asterisks indicate a statistically significant difference of the apparent interaction energy $\Delta\Delta G_{INT}$ from zero energy determined using a onesample *t* test (****, *p* < 0.0001) (right panel).



Figure 16. Effects of DTT on cysteine mutations in the M3 and M4 domains of GluN1 and GluN2C subunits. Bar graph summary of the percentage of change (mean \pm SEM) in 300 µM glutamate steady-state (I_{ss}) current amplitude after redox modification of wild type and cysteine mutations with reducing agent DTT. The percentage of change in I_{ss} after DTT treatment is defined as [((I_{after}/I_{inital}) – 1) × 100]. Negative values represent a decrease in I_{ss} after DTT reaction, whereas positive values represent an increase in I_{ss}. Asterisks indicate the percentage of change that differed significantly from that for wild type GluN1/GluN2C subunits (**, p < 0.01; ANOVA followed by Dunnett's test).



Figure 17. Effects of DTT on the deactivation time constant (τ) of cysteine mutations in the M3 and M4 domains of GluN1 and GluN2C subunits. Bar graph shows the average values of deactivation time course before and after DTT treatment in the presence of 300 µM glutamate and 50 µM glycine. Asterisks indicate Tau that differed significantly from that for wild type GluN1/GluN2C subunits (**, p < 0.01 ***, p < 0.001; ANOVA followed by Bonferroni's test).



Figure 18. Model of the MD of the NMDARs. Model of the MDs of the GluN1/GluN2C subunit showing M3 and M4 helices (GluN1, yellow; GluN2C, green). Other MDs have been removed for clarity. Space-filling side groups are shown for the G638C and F639C positions in the M3 helices of GluN1, M821C position in the M4 helices of GluN2C. Disulfide bridges are represented by yellow dashed lines.



Figure 19. Relation of agonist potency, ion channel gating to EtOH sensitivity in NMDAR containing GluN2C (Met-821) mutant subunits. A-C, graph plot log IC₅₀ for EtOH *vs* log EC₅₀ for glutamate peak and steady-state current and maximal I_{ss} : I_p . Data points are labeled with the substituted amino acid for the various mutants at GluN2C (Met-821). The lines shown are the least squares fits to the data. No significant correlations were obtained between log EtOH IC₅₀ *vs* log I_p EC₅₀ ($R^2 = 0.182$; P > 0.05), log I_{ss} EC₅₀ ($R^2 = 0.019$; P > 0.05). A significant linear relation was obtained from log EtOH IC₅₀ *vs* maximal I_{ss} : I_p ($R^2 = 0.501$; P < 0.05).



Figure 20. Model of the MD of the NMDARs. A, model of the MD of the GluN2A subunit. Space-filling side groups are shown for the different amino acid in the M3 and M4 domains compared to GluN2C subunit. GluN2A (Met-823) residue is labeled by yellow. B, model of the MD of the GluN2C subunit. Space-filling side groups are shown for the different positions in the M3 and M4 domains compared to GluN2A subunit. GluN2C (Met-821) is labeled by yellow.

BIBLIOGRAPHY

- 1. Sobolevsky AI, Rosconi MP, Gouaux E, *X-ray structure, symmetry and mechanism of an AMPA-subtype glutamate receptor.* Nature, 2009. 462: p. 745-56.
- Franks NP, Lieb WR, *Review Molecular and cellular mechanisms of general anaesthesia*. Nature., 1994. 367: p. 607-14.
- 3. Peoples RW, Li C, Weight FF, *Review Lipid vs protein theories of alcohol action in the nervous system*. Annu Rev Pharmacol Toxicol., 1996. 36: p. 185-201.
- 4. Curtis DR, Watkins JC., *Analogues of glutamic and gamma-amino-n-butyric acids having potent actions on mammalian neurones.* Nature., 1961. 191: p. 1010-1.
- 5. Curtis DR, Watkins JC., *Acidic amino acids with strong excitatory actions on mammalian neurones.* J Physiol. , 1963. 166: p. 1-14.
- 6. Hayashi, T. , *Effects of sodium glutamate on the nervous system*. Keio J Med, 1954. 3: p. 183-192.
- 7. Bliss TV, Collingridge GL, *A synaptic model of memory: long-term potentiation in the hippocampus*. Nature, 1993. 361(6407): p. 31-39.
- Dingledine R, Borges K, Bowie D, Traynelis SF., *The Glutamate Receptor Ion Channels*. Pharmacol Rev., 1999. 51: p. 7-61.
- 9. Paoletti P, Neyton J., *NMDA receptor subunits: Function and pharmacology.* Curr Opin Pharmacol. , 2007. 7: p. 39-47.
- Traynelis SF, Wollmuth LP, McBain CJ, Menniti FS, Vance KM, Ogden KK, Hansen KB, Yuan H, Myers SJ, Dingledine R., *Glutamate receptor ion channels: structure, regulation, and function.* Pharmacol Rev., 2010. 62: p. 405-96.
- 11. Laube B, Kuhse J, Betz H, *Evidence for a tetrameric structure of recombinant NMDA receptors.* J Neurosci., 1998. 18(8): p. 2954-2961.
- 12. Mano I, Teichberg VI, A tetrameric subunit stoichiometry for a glutamate receptor-channel complex. Neuroreport., 1998. 9(2): p. 327-331.
- 13. Rosenmund C, Stern-Bach Y, Stevens CF, *The tetrameric structure of a glutamate receptor channel.* Science., 1998. 280(5369): p. 1596-1599.

- Monyer H, Sprengel R, Schoepfer R, Herb A, Higuchi M, Lomeli H, Burnashev N, Sakmann B, Seeburg PH, *Heteromeric NMDA receptors: molecular and functional distinction of subtypes.* Science., 1992. 256(5060): p. 1217-1221.
- 15. Schorge S, Colquhoun D, *Studies of NMDA receptor function and stoichiometry with truncated and tandem subunits.* J Neurosci., 2003. 23(4): p. 1151-1158.
- 16. Ulbrich MH, Isacoff EY., *Rules of engagement for NMDA receptor subunits.* Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A., 2008. 105(37): p. 14163-13168.
- 17. Lynch DR, Guttmann RP., *NMDA receptor pharmacology: perspectives from molecular biology*. Curr Drug Targets. 2: p. 215-31.
- 18. Laurie DJ, Seeburg PH., *Regional and developmental heterogeneity in splicing of the rat brain NMDAR1 mRNA*. J. Neurosci., 1994. 14: p. 3180-94.
- Paupard MC, Friedman LK, Zukin RS., Developmental regulation and cell-specific expression of N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor splice variants in rat hippocampus. Neuroscience., 1997. 79: p. 399-409.
- 20. Monyer H, Burnashev N, Laurie DJ, Sakmann B, Seeburg PH., *Developmental and regional expression in the rat brain and functional properties of four NMDA receptors.* . Neuron. , 1994. 12: p. 529-40.
- 21. Williams K, Russell SL, Shen YM, Molinoff PB., *Developmental switch in the expression* of NMDA receptors occurs in vivo and in vitro. Neuron., 1993. 10: p. 267-78.
- 22. Mori H, Mishina M., *Structure and function of the NMDA receptor channel*. Neuropharmacology. , 1995. 34: p. 1219-37.
- 23. Wenzel A, Scheurer L, Künzi R, Fritschy JM, Mohler H, Benke D., *Distribution of NMDA receptor subunit proteins NR2A, 2B, 2C and 2D in rat brain.* Neuroreport. , 1995. 7: p. 45-8.
- 24. Portera-Cailliau C, Price DL, Martin LJ., *N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor proteins NR2A and NR2B are differentially distributed in the developing rat central nervous system as revealed by subunit-specific antibodies.* J Neurochem., 1996. 66: p. 692-700.
- 25. Wenzel A, Fritschy JM, Mohler H, Benke D, *NMDA receptor heterogeneity during postnatal development of the rat brain: differential expression of the NR2A, NR2B, and NR2C subunit proteins.* J Neurochem. , 1997. 68(2): p. 469-478.
- 26. Farrant M, Feldmeyer D, Takahashi T, Cull-Candy SG, *NMDA-receptor channel diversity in the developing cerebellum*. Nature., 1994. 368(6469): p. 335-339.

- Karavanova I, Vasudevan K, Cheng J, Buonanno A., Novel regional and developmental NMDA receptor expression patterns uncovered in NR2C subunit-beta-galactosidase knock-in mice.
 Mol Cell Neurosci., 2007. 34: p. 468-80.
- 28. McBain CJ, Mayer ML, *N-methyl-D-aspartic acid receptor structure and function*. Physiolog Rev 1994. 74: p. 723-760.
- 29. Husi H, Ward MA, Choudhary JS, Blackstock WP, Grant SG., *Proteomic analysis of NMDA receptor-adhesion protein signaling complexes.* Nat Neurosci. , 2000. 3: p. 661-9.
- 30. Nowak LM, Bregestovski P, Ascher P, Herbet A, Prochiantz A, *Magnesium gates glutamateactivated channels in mouse central neurones.* Nature, 1984. 307: p. 462-465.
- 31. Mayer ML, Westbrook GL, Guthrie PB, *Voltage-dependent block by Mg2+ of NMDA responses in spinal cord neurones.* Nature, 1984. 309: p. 261-263.
- 32. Jahr CE, Stevens CF, Voltage dependence of NMDA-activated macroscopic conductances predicted by single channel kinetics. J Neurosci, 1990b. 10: p. 3178–3182.
- Ishii T, Moriyoshi K, Sugihara H, Sakurada K, Kadotani H, Yokoi M, Akazawa C, Shigemoto R, Mizuno N, Masu M, Nakanishi S, *Molecular characterization of the family of the N-methyl-Daspartate receptor subunits.* J Biol Chem., 1993. 268: p. 2836–2843.
- MacDermott AB, Mayer ML, Westbrook GL, Smith SJ, Barker JL., NMDA-receptor activation increases cytoplasmic calcium concentration in cultured spinal cord neurones. Nature., 1986.
 321: p. 519-22.
- 35. Mayer ML, Westbrook GL., *Permeation and block of N-methyl-D-aspartic acid receptor channels by divalent cations in mouse cultured central neurones.* J Physiol. , 1987. 394: p. 501-27.
- Schneggenburger R, Tempia F, Konnerth A., *Glutamate- and AMPA-mediated calcium influx through glutamate receptor channels in medial septal neurons*. Neuropharmacology., 1993. 32: p. 1221-8.
- 37. Schneggenburger R, Zhou Z, Konnerth A, Neher E., *Fractional contribution of calcium to the cation current through glutamate receptor channels.* Neuron., 1993. 11: p. 133-43.
- Collingridge GL, Singer W., *Excitatory amino acid receptors and synaptic plasticity*. Trends Pharmacol Sci., 1990. 11: p. 290-6.
- 39. Lynch G, Larson J, Kelso S, Barrionuevo G, Schottler F., *Intracellular injections of EGTA block induction of hippocampal long-term potentiation*. Nature, 1983. 305: p. 719-21.

- Dudek SM, Bear MF., Homosynaptic long-term depression in area CA1 of hippocampus and effects of N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor blockade. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A., 1992. 89: p. 4363-7.
- 41. Mulkey RM, Malenka RC., *Mechanisms underlying induction of homosynaptic long-term depression in area CA1 of the hippocampus*. Neuron., 1992. 9: p. 967-75.
- 42. Selig DK, Hjelmstad GO, Herron C, Nicoll RA, Malenka RC., *Independent mechanisms for longterm depression of AMPA and NMDA responses*. Neuron., 1995. 15: p. 417-26.
- 43. J., Lisman, A mechanism for the Hebb and the anti-Hebb processes underlying learning and memory. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A., 1989. 86: p. 9574-8.
- 44. Artola A, Singer W., Long-term depression of excitatory synaptic transmission and its relationship to long-term potentiation. Trends Neurosci., 1993: p. 480-7.
- 45. Neveu D, Zucker RS., *Long-lasting potentiation and depression without presynaptic activity*. J Neurophysiol., 1996. 75: p. 2157-60.
- 46. Neveu D, Zucker RS., *Postsynaptic levels of [Ca2+]i needed to trigger LTD and LTP*. neuron., 1996. 16: p. 619-29.
- 47. Johnson JW, Ascher P., *Glycine potentiates the NMDA response in cultured mouse brain neurons*. Nature. , 1987. 325(6104): p. 529-531.
- 48. Kleckner NW, Dingledine R., *Requirement for glycine in activation of NMDA-receptors expressed in Xenopus oocytes.* Science. , 1988. 241(4867): p. 835-837.
- 49. DG, Nicholls, *Review Release of glutamate, aspartate, and gamma-aminobutyric acid from isolated nerve terminals.* J Neurochem. , 1989. 52(2): p. 331-341.
- 50. Fleck MW, Henze DA, Barrionuevo G, Palmer AM, *Aspartate and glutamate mediate excitatory synaptic transmission in area CA1 of the hippocampus*. J Neurosci., 1993. 13(9): p. 3944-3955.
- 51. Pullan LM, Olney JW, Price MT, Compton RP, Hood WF, Michel J, Monahan JB, *Excitatory amino acid receptor potency and subclass specificity of sulfur-containing amino acids*. J Neurochem., 1987. 49(4): p. 1301-1307.
- 52. McBain CJ, Kleckner NW, Wyrick S, Dingledine R, *Structural requirements for activation of the glycine coagonist site of N-methyl-D-aspartate receptors expressed in Xenopus oocytes.* Mol Pharmacol., 1989. 36(4): p. 556-565.

- 53. Schell MJ, Cooper OB, Snyder SH, *D-aspartate localizations imply neuronal and neuroendocrine roles.* Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. , 1997. 94(5): p. 2013-2018.
- 54. Wang L, Nadler JV, *Reduced aspartate release from rat hippocampal synaptosomes loaded with Clostridial toxin light chain by electroporation: evidence for an exocytotic mechanism.* Neurosci Lett. , 2007. 412(3): p. 239-242.
- 55. Errico F, Rossi S, Napolitano F, Catuogno V, Topo E, Fisone G, D'Aniello A, Centonze D, Usiello A, *D-aspartate prevents corticostriatal long-term depression and attenuates schizophrenia-like symptoms induced by amphetamine and MK-801.* J Neurosci., 2008. 28(41): p. 10404-10414.
- 56. Zhang X, Nadler JV, *Postsynaptic response to stimulation of the Schaffer collaterals with properties similar to those of synaptosomal aspartate release.* Brain Res., 2009. 1295: p. 13-20.
- 57. Erreger K, Geballe MT, Kristensen A, Chen PE, Hansen KB, Lee CJ, Yuan H, Le P, Lyuboslavsky PN, Micale N, Jørgensen L, Clausen RP, Wyllie DJ, Snyder JP, Traynelis SF., *Subunit-specific agonist activity at NR2A-, NR2B-, NR2C-, and NR2D-containing N-methyl-D-aspartate glutamate receptors*. Mol Pharmacol., 2007. 72: p. 907-20.
- 58. Kutsuwada T, Kashiwabuchi N, Mori H, Sakimura K, Kushiya E, Araki K, Meguro H, Masaki H,
 Kumanishi T, Arakawa M, *Molecular diversity of the NMDA receptor channel.* Nature., 1992.
 358(6381): p. 36-41.
- 59. Mayer ML, Vyklicky L Jr, Westbrook GL., Modulation of excitatory amino acid receptors by group IIB metal cations in cultured mouse hippocampal neurones. J Physiol (Lond) 1989. 415: p. 329-350.
- 60. Sather W, Johnson JW, Henderson G, Ascher P, *Glycine-insensitive desensitization of NMDA responses in cultured mouse embryonic neurons.* Neuron., 1990. 4(5): p. 725–731.
- 61. Raymond Dingledine, Karin Borges, Derek Bowie, and Stephen F. Traynelis, *The Glutamte Receptor Ion Channels*. Pharmacol Rev., 1999. 51(1): p. 7-61.
- 62. Clark GD, Clifford DB, Zorumski CF, *The effect of agonist concentration, membrane voltage* and calcium on n-methyl-d-aspartate receptor desensitization. Neuroscience, 1990. 39(3): p. 787-797.
- 63. Legendre P, Rosenmund C, Westbrook GL., *Inactivation of NMDA channels in cultured hippocampal neurons by intracellular calcium.* J Neurosci, 1993. 13(2): p. 674-684.
- 64. Dravid SM, Prakash A, Traynelis SF., *Activation of recombinant NR1/NR2C NMDA receptors*. J Physiol. , 2008. 586(18): p. 4425-4439.

- Krupp JJ, Vissel B, Heinemann SF, Westbrook GL, Calcium-dependent inactivation of recombinant N-methyl-D-aspartate receptors is NR2 subunit specific. Mol Pharmacol., 1996.
 50(6): p. 1680-1688.
- 66. Wyllie DJ, Béhé P, Colquhoun D, Single-channel activations and concentration jumps: comparison of recombinant NR1a/NR2A and NR1a/NR2D NMDA receptors. J Physiol., 1998.
 510: p. 1-18.
- 67. Kessler M, Terramani T, Lynch G, Baudry M, A glycine site associated with N-methyl-Daspartic acid receptors: characterization and identification of a new class of antagonists. J Neurochem., 1989. 52(4): p. 1319-1328.
- 68. Kemp JA, Foster AC, Leeson PD, Priestley T, Tridgett R, Iversen LL, Woodruff GN, 7-Chlorokynurenic acid is a selective antagonist at the glycine modulatory site of the N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor complex. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A., 1988. 85(17): p. 6547-6550.
- 69. McNamara D, Smith EC, Calligaro DO, O'Malley PJ, McQuaid LA, Dingledine R, *5*, *7*-Dichlorokynurenic acid, a potent and selective competitive antagonist of the glycine site on NMDA receptors. Neurosci Lett., 1990. 120(1): p. 17-20.
- 70. Huettner JE, Bean BP., *Block of N-methyl-D-aspartate-activated current by the anticonvulsant MK-801: selective binding to open channels.* Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A., 1988. 85: p. 1307-11.
- 71. Mayer ML, Westbrook GL, Vyklický L Jr., *Sites of antagonist action on N-methyl-D-aspartic acid receptors studied using fluctuation analysis and a rapid perfusion technique*. J Neurophysiol., 1988. 60: p. 645-63.
- 72. Fayyazuddin A, Villarroel A, Le Goff A, Lerma J, Neyton J., *Four residues of the extracellular Nterminal domain of the NR2A subunit control high-affinity Zn2+ binding to NMDA receptors.* Neuron., 2000. 25: p. 683-94.
- 73. Paoletti P, Perin-Dureau F, Fayyazuddin A, Le Goff A, Callebaut I, Neyton J, *Molecular organization of a zinc binding n-terminal modulatory domain in a NMDA receptor subunit.* Neuron., 2000. 28: p. 911-25.
- Low CM, Zheng F, Lyuboslavsky P, Traynelis SF., Molecular determinants of coordinated proton and zinc inhibition of N-methyl-D-aspartate NR1/NR2A receptors. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. , 2000. 97: p. 11062-7.
- 75. Paoletti P, Ascher P, Neyton J., *High-affinity zinc inhibition of NMDA NR1-NR2A receptors*. J Neurosci. , 1997. 17: p. 5711-25.

- 76. Zheng F, Erreger K, Low CM, Banke T, Lee CJ, Conn PJ, Traynelis SF., *Allosteric interaction between the amino terminal domain and the ligand binding domain of NR2A*. Nat Neurosci., 2001. 4: p. 894-901.
- 77. Rock DM, Macdonald RL., *The polyamine diaminodecane (DA-10) produces a voltage- dependent flickery block of single NMDA receptor channels*. Neurosci Lett., 1992. 144: p. 111 5.
- 78. Rock DM, MacDonald RL., Spermine and related polyamines produce a voltage-dependent reduction of N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor single-channel conductance. Mol Pharmacol., 1992. 42: p. 157-64.
- 79. Rock DM, Macdonald RL., *The polyamine spermine has multiple actions on N-methyl-Daspartate receptor single-channel currents in cultured cortical neurons.* Mol Pharmacol., 1992. 41: p. 83-8.
- 80. Weiss F, Porrino LJ., *Behavioral neurobiology of alcohol addiction: recent advances and challenges.* J Neurosci, 2002. 22(9): p. 3332-3337.
- Le Berre AP, Rauchs G, La Joie R, Mézenge F, Boudehent C, Vabret F, Segobin S, Viader F,
 Allain P, Eustache F, Pitel AL, Beaunieux H., *Impaired decision-making and brain shrinkage in alcoholism.* Eur Psychiatry., 2014. 29: p. 125-33.
- 82. Ramezani A, Goudarzi I, Lashkarboluki T, Ghorbanian MT, Abrari K, Elahdadi Salmani M., *Role of oxidative stress in ethanol-induced neurotoxicity in the developing cerebellum.* Iran J Basic Med Sci. , 2012. 15: p. 965-74.
- 83. R., Chandrasekar, *Alcohol and NMDA receptor: current research and future direction*. Front Mol Neurosci. , 2013. 6: p. 14.
- 84. J., Woodward J., *Ionotropic glutamate receptors as sites of action for ethanol in the brain.* . Neurochem. Int., 1999. 35: p. 107–113.
- Krystal J. H., Petrakis I. L., Mason G., Trevisan L., D'Souza D. C., *N-Methyl-d-aspartate* glutamate receptors and alcoholism. Reward, dependence, treatment, and vulnerability. Pharmacol. Ther., 2003. 99: p. 79–94.
- 86. Gonzales RA, Woodward JJ., Ethanol inhibits N-methyl-D-aspartate-stimulated
 [3H]norepinephrine release from rat cortical slices. J Pharmacol Exp Ther., 1990. 253: p. 1138-44.
- 87. Krystal JH, Petrakis IL, Limoncelli D, Webb E, Gueorgueva R, D'Souza DC, Boutros NN, Trevisan L, Charney DS., Altered NMDA glutamate receptor antagonist response in recovering ethanol-dependent patients. Neuropsychopharmacology., 2003. 28(11): p. 2020-2028.

- 88. Vengeliene V, Bachteler D, Danysz W, Spanagel R., *The role of the NMDA receptor in alcohol relapse: a pharmacological mapping study using the alcohol deprivation effect.* Neuropharmacology. , 2005. 48(6): p. 822-829.
- 89. Gass JT, Olive MF., *Glutamatergic substrates of drug addiction and alcoholism*. . Biochem Pharmacol. , 2008. 75: p. 218-65.
- 90. Vengeliene V, Bilbao A, Molander A, Spanagel R., *Neuropharmacology of alcohol addiction*.
 Br J Pharmacol., 2008. 154: p. 299-315.
- 91. Lovinger DM, White G, Weight FF, *Ethanol inhibits NMDA-activated ion current in hippocampal neurons.* . Science, 1989. 243(4899): p. 1721-1724.
- Wright JM, Peoples RW, Weight FF, Single-channel and whole-cell analysis of ethanol inhibition of NMDA-activated currents in cultured mouse cortical and hippocampal neurons.
 Brain Res., 1996. 738(2): p. 249-256.
- 93. Wirkner K, Eberts C, Poelchen W, Allgaier C, Illes P., Mechanism of inhibition by ethanol of NMDA and AMPA receptor channel functions in cultured rat cortical neurons. Naun Schmiede Arch Pharmacol., 2000. 362(6): p. 568-576.
- 94. Calton JL, Wilson WA, Moore SD, Magnesium-dependent inhibition of N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor-mediated synaptic transmission by ethanol. J Pharmacol Exp Ther., 1998. 287(3):
 p. 1015-1019.
- 95. Maldve RE, Zhang TA, Ferrani-Kile K, Schreiber SS, Lippmann MJ, Snyder GL, Fienberg AA, Leslie SW, Gonzales RA, Morrisett RA *DARPP-32 and regulation of the ethanol sensitivity of NMDARs in the nucleus accumbens.* . Nat Neurosci., 2002. 5(7): p. 641-648.
- 96. Nie Z, Madamba SG, Siggins GR, Ethanol inhibits glutamatergic neurotransmission in nucleus accumbens neurons by multiple mechanisms. J Pharmacol Exp Ther., 1994. 271(3): p. 1566-1573.
- 97. Yin HH, Park BS, Adermark L, Lovinger DM., *Ethanol reverses the direction of long-term* synaptic plasticity in the dorsomedial striatum. . Eur J Neurosci., 2007. 25(11): p. 3226-3232.
- 98. Wang J, Carnicella S, Phamluong K, Jeanblanc J, Ronesi JA, Chaudhri N, Janak PH, Lovinger DM, Ron D, Ethanol induces long-term facilitation of NR2B-NMDA receptor activity in the dorsal striatum: implications for alcohol drinking behavior. J Neurosci., 2007. 27(13): p. 3593-3602.
- 99. Peoples RW, Stewart RR, Alcohols inhibit N-methyl-D-aspartate receptors via a site exposed to the extracellular environment. Neuropharmacology. , 2000. 39(10): p. 1681-1691.

- 100. Criswell HE, Ming Z, Pleasant N, Griffith BL, Mueller RA, Breese GR., *Macrokinetic analysis of blockade of NMDA-gated currents by substituted alcohols, alkanes and ethers.* Brain Res., 2004. 1015(1-2): p. 107-113.
- 101. Göthert M, Fink K., Inhibition of N-methyl-D-aspartate (NMDA)- and L-glutamate-induced noradrenaline and acetylcholine release in the rat brain by ethanol. Naunyn Schmiedebergs Arch Pharmacol. , 1989. 340: p. 516-21.
- 102. Rabe CS, Tabakoff B., *Glycine site-directed agonists reverse the actions of ethanol at the Nmethyl-D-aspartate receptor.* Mol Pharmacol., 1990. 38: p. 753-7.
- Peoples RW, White G, Lovinger DM, Weight FF., Ethanol inhibition of N-methyl-D-aspartateactivated current in mouse hippocampal neurones: Whole-cell patch-clamp analysis. Br J Pharmacol., 1997. 122: p. 1035-42.
- 104. Hoffman PL, Rabe CS, Moses F, Tabakoff B., *N-methyl-D-aspartate receptors and ethanol: Inhibition of calcium flux and cyclic GMP production.* J Neurochem., 1989. 52: p. 1937-40.
- 105. Dildy-Mayfield JE, Leslie SW., Mechanism of inhibition of N-methyl-D-aspartate-stimulated increases in free intracellular Ca2+ concentration by ethanol. J Neurochem., 1991. 56: p. 1536-43.
- Buller AL, Larson HC, Morrisett RA, Monaghan DT., *Glycine modulates ethanol inhibition of heteromeric N-methyl-D-aspartate receptors expressed in xenopus oocytes*. Mol Pharmacol., 1995. 48: p. 717-23.
- 107. Peoples RW, Weight FF., *Ethanol inhibition of N-methyl-D-aspartate-activated ion current in rat hippocampal neurons is not competitive with glycine*. Brain Res., 1992. 571: p. 342-4.
- Snell LD, Tabakoff B, Hoffman PL., Involvement of protein kinase C in ethanol-induced inhibition of NMDA receptor function in cerebellar granule cells. Alcohol Clin Exp Res., 1994.
 18: p. 81-5.
- 109. Mihic SJ, Ye Q, Wick MJ, Koltchine VV, Krasowski MD, Finn SE, Mascia MP, Valenzuela CF, Hanson KK, Greenblatt EP, Harris RA, Harrison NL., *Sites of alcohol and volatile anaesthetic action on GABA(A) and glycine receptors.* nature, 1997. 389: p. 385-9.
- 110. Ren H, Honse Y, Karp BJ, Lipsky RH, Peoples RW., *A site in the fourth membrane-associated domain of the N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor regulates desensitization and ion channel gating.* J Biol Chem., 2003. 278(1): p. 276-283.
- 111. Ren H, Honse Y, Peoples RW., *A site of alcohol action in the fourth membrane-associated domain of the N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor.* J Biol Chem., 2003. 278(49): p. 48815-48820.

- 112. Smothers C. T., Woodward J. J., *Effects of amino acid substitutions in transmembrane domains of the NR1 subunit on the ethanol inhibition of recombinant N-methyl-d-aspartate receptors.* . Alcohol Clin. Exp. Res. , 2006. 30: p. 523–530.
- 113. Ren H, Salous AK, Paul JM, Lipsky RH, Peoples RW., Mutations at F637 in the NMDA receptor NR2A subunit M3 domain influence agonist potency, ion channel gating and alcohol action. Br J Pharmacol., 2007. 151(6): p. 749-757.
- 114. Ren H, Zhao Y, Dwyer DS, Peoples RW., Interactions among Positions in the Third and Fourth Membrane-associated Domains at the Intersubunit Interface of the N-Methyl-d-aspartate Receptor Forming Sites of Alcohol Action. J Biol Chem., 2012. 287: p. 27302-12.
- 115. Ren H, Zhao Y, Wu M, Peoples RW., A Novel Alcohol-Sensitive Position in the N-Methyl-D-Aspartate Receptor GluN2A Subunit M3 Domain Regulates Agonist Affinity and Ion Channel Gating. Mol Pharmacol., 2013. 84: p. 501-10.
- 116. Ren H, Salous AK, Paul JM, Lamb KA, Dwyer DS, Peoples RW., *Functional interactions of alcohol-sensitive sites in the N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor M3 and M4 domains*. J Biol Chem. , 2008. 283(13): p. 8250-8257.
- 117. Káradóttir R, Cavelier P, Bergersen LH, Attwell D., *NMDA receptors are expressed in oligodendrocytes and activated in ischaemia*. Nature., 2005. 438: p. 1162-6.
- 118. Cull-Candy S, Brickley S, Farrant M., *NMDA receptor subunits: diversity, development and disease.* . Curr Opin Neurobiol., 2001. 11: p. 327-35.
- Chen PE, Geballe MT, Katz E, Erreger K, Livesey MR, O'Toole KK, Le P, Lee CJ, Snyder JP, Traynelis SF, Wyllie DJ., Modulation of glycine potency in rat recombinant NMDA receptors containing chimeric NR2A/2D subunits expressed in Xenopus laevis oocytes. J Physiol., 2008. 586: p. 227-45.
- Hillman BG, Gupta SC, Stairs DJ, Buonanno A, Dravid SM., Behavioral analysis of NR2C knockout mouse reveals deficit in working memory and acquisition of conditioned fear. Neurobiol Learn Mem. , 2011. 95(4): p. 404-414.
- 121. Chu B, Anantharam V, Treistman SN., *Ethanol inhibition of recombinant heteromeric NMDA channels in the presence and absence of modulators*. J Neurochem., 1995. 65: p. 140-8.
- 122. Masood K, Wu C, Brauneis U, Weight FF., *Differential ethanol sensitivity of recombinant Nmethyl-D-aspartate receptor subunits.* . Mol Pharmacol. , 1994. 45: p. 324-9.
- 123. Mirshahi T, Woodward JJ., Ethanol sensitivity of heteromeric NMDA receptors: effects of subunit assembly, glycine and NMDAR1 Mg(2+)-insensitive mutants. Neuropharmacology., 1995. 34: p. 347-55.

- 124. Venkatachalan S. P., Czajkowski C., *A conserved salt bridge critical for GABAA receptor function and loop C dynamics*. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A., 2008. 105: p. 13604–13609.
- 125. Iorio KR, Tabakoff B, Hoffman PL., *Glutamate-induced neurotoxicity is increased in cerebellar granule cells exposed chronically to ethanol.* Eur J Pharmacol. , 1993. 248: p. 209-12.
- 126. Chandler LJ, Newsom H, Sumners C, Crews F., *Chronic ethanol exposure potentiates NMDA excitotoxicity in cerebral cortical neurons*. J Neurochem., 1993. 60: p. 1578-81.
- Blevins T, Mirshahi T, Chandler LJ, Woodward JJ., Effects of acute and chronic ethanol exposure on heteromeric N-methyl-D-aspartate receptors expressed in HEK 293 cells. J Neurochem., 1997. 69: p. 2345-54.
- 128. Blevins T, Mirshahi T, Woodward JJ., *Increased agonist and antagonist sensitivity of Nmethyl-D-aspartate stimulated calcium flux in cultured neurons following chronic ethanol exposure.* Neurosci Lett. , 1995. 200: p. 214-8.
- 129. Zukin RS, Bennett MV., *Alternatively spliced isoforms of the NMDARI subunit.* Trends Neurosci. , 1995. 18: p. 306-13.
- M. Hollmann, C. Maron, S. Heinemann, *N-glycosylation site tagging suggests a three transmembrane segment topology for the glutamate receptor GluR1.* Neuron., 1994. 13: p. 1331–1343.
- 131. Wo ZG, Oswald RE., *Transmembrane topology of two kainate receptor subunits revealed by N-glycosylation*. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A., 1994. 91: p. 7154-8.
- 132. Bennett JA, Dingledine R., *Topology profile for a glutamate receptor: three transmembrane segments and a channel-lining reentrant membrane loop.* Neuron. , 1995. 14: p. 373-84.
- Wood MW, VanDongen HM, VanDongen AM., Structural conservation of ion conduction pathways in K channels and glutamate receptors. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A., 1995. 92: p. 4882-6.
- 134. Kuner T, Wollmuth LP, Karlin A, Seeburg PH, Sakmann B., *Structure of the NMDA Receptor Channel M2 Segment Inferred from the Accessibility of Substituted Cysteines*. Neuron., 1995.
 17: p. 343-52.
- 135. Karlin A, Akabas MH., *Substituted-cysteine-accessibility method*. Methods Enzymol., 1998.293: p. 123-45.
- Beck C, Wollmuth LP, Seeburg PH, Sakmann B, Kuner T., NMDAR Channel Segments Forming the Extracellular Vestibule Inferred from the Accessibility of Substituted Cysteines. neuron., 1999. 22: p. 559-70.

- 137. Ronald K. M., Mirshahi T., Woodward J. J., *Ethanol inhibition of N-methyl-d-aspartate* receptors is reduced by site-directed mutagenesis of a transmembrane domain phenylalanine residue. J. Biol. Chem. , 2001. 276: p. 44729–44735.
- 138. Paoletti P1, Perin-Dureau F, Fayyazuddin A, Le Goff A, Callebaut I, Neyton J., Molecular organization of a zinc binding n-terminal modulatory domain in a NMDA receptor subunit. Neuron., 2000. 28: p. 911-25.
- 139. Hatton CJ1, Paoletti P., *Modulation of triheteromeric NMDA receptors by N-terminal domain ligands*. Neuron., 2005. 46: p. 261-74.
- 140. Gielen M, Siegler Retchless B, Mony L, Johnson JW, Paoletti P, *Mechanism of differential control of NMDA receptor activity by NR2 subunits.* Nature., 2009. 459: p. 703-7.
- 141. Wick MJ, Mihic SJ, Ueno S, Mascia MP, Trudell JR, Brozowski SJ, Ye Q, Harrison NL, Harris RA., Mutations of γ-aminobutyric acid and glycine receptors change alcohol cutoff: Evidence for an alcohol receptor? Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A., 1998. 95: p. 6504-9.
- 142. Mascia MP, Trudell JR, Harris RA., *Specific binding sites for alcohols and anesthetics on ligand-gated ion channels.* Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A., 2000. 97: p. 9305-10.
- 143. Jenkins A, Greenblatt EP, Faulkner HJ, Bertaccini E, Light A, Lin A, Andreasen A, Viner A, Trudell JR, Harrison NL., *Evidence for a common binding cavity for three general anesthetics within the GABAA receptor.* J Neurosci. , 2001. 21: p. RC136.
- 144. O'Hara PJ, Sheppard PO, Thøgersen H, Venezia D, Haldeman BA, McGrane V, Houamed KM, Thomsen C, Gilbert TL, Mulvihill ER., *The ligand-binding domain in metabotropic glutamate receptors is related to bacterial periplasmic binding proteins*. Neuron., 1993. 11: p. 41-52.
- 145. Paas Y, Eisenstein M, Medevielle F, Teichberg VI, Devillers-Thiéry A, *Identification of the amino acid subsets accounting for the ligand binding specificity of a glutamate receptor.* Neuron., 1996. 17: p. 979-90.
- 146. Y, Paas, *The macro- and microarchitectures of the ligand-binding domain of glutamate receptors.* Trends Neurosci., 1998. 21: p. 117-25.
- 147. Masuko T, Kashiwagi K, Kuno T, Nguyen ND, Pahk AJ, Fukuchi J, Igarashi K, Williams K, A regulatory domain (R1-R2) in the amino terminus of the N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor: effects of spermine, protons, and ifenprodil, and structural similarity to bacterial leucine/isoleucine/valine binding protein. Mol Pharmacol., 1999a. 55: p. 957-69.
- 148. Clayton A, Siebold C, Gilbert RJ, Sutton GC, Harlos K, McIlhinney RA, Jones EY, Aricescu AR, Crystal structure of the GluR2 amino-terminal domain provides insights into the architecture and assembly of ionotropic glutamate receptors. J Mol Biol., 2009. 392: p. 1125-32.

- Jin R, Singh SK, Gu S, Furukawa H, Sobolevsky AI, Zhou J, Jin Y, Gouaux E, *Crystal structure* and association behaviour of the GluR2 amino-terminal domain. EMBO J., 2009. 28: p. 1812-23.
- 150. Karakas E, Simorowski N, Furukawa H, *Structure of the zinc-bound amino-terminal domain of the NMDA receptor NR2B subunit.* EMBO J., 2009. 28: p. 3910-20.
- 151. Kumar J, Schuck P, Jin R, Mayer ML, *The N-terminal domain of GluR6-subtype glutamate receptor ion channels*. Nat Struct Mol Biol. , 2009. 16: p. 631-8.
- 152. Matsuda S, Kamiya Y, Yuzaki M, Roles of the N-terminal domain on the function and quaternary structure of the ionotropic glutamate receptor. J Biol Chem. , 2005. 280: p. 20021-9.
- 153. Kuusinen A, Abele R, Madden DR, Keinänen K, Oligomerization and ligand-binding properties of the ectodomain of the alpha-amino-3-hydroxy-5-methyl-4-isoxazole propionic acid receptor subunit GluRD. J Biol Chem., 1999. 274: p. 28937-43.
- 154. Yuan H, Hansen KB, Vance KM, Ogden KK, Traynelis SF, *Control of NMDA receptor function by the NR2 subunit amino-terminal domain.* J Neurosci. , 2009. 29: p. 12045-58.
- 155. Meddows E, Le Bourdelles B, Grimwood S, Wafford K, Sandhu S, Whiting P, McIlhinney RA, Identification of molecular determinants that are important in the assembly of N-methyl-Daspartate receptors. J Biol Chem. , 2001. 276: p.:18795-803.
- 156. K, Williams, Ifenprodil discriminates subtypes of the N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor: selectivity and mechanisms at recombinant heteromeric receptors. Mol Pharmacol., 1993. 44: p. 851-9.
- 157. Stern-Bach Y, Bettler B, Hartley M, Sheppard PO, O'Hara PJ, Heinemann SF., *Agonist* selectivity of glutamate receptors is specified by two domains structurally related to bacterial amino acid-binding proteins. Neuron. , 1994. 13: p. 1345-57.
- 158. Anson LC, Chen PE, Wyllie DJ, Colquhoun D, Schoepfer R., *Identification of Amino Acid Residues of the NR2A Subunit That Control Glutamate Potency in Recombinant NR1/NR2A NMDA Receptors.* J neurosci, 1998. 18: p. 581-9.
- 159. Wafford KA, Kathoria M, Bain CJ, Marshall G, Le Bourdellès B, Kemp JA, Whiting PJ., Identification of amino acids in the N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor NR1 subunit that contribute to the glycine binding site. Mol Pharmacol., 1995. 47: p. 374-80.
- 160. Hirai H, Kirsch J, Laube B, Betz H, Kuhse J., *The glycine binding site of the N-methyl-D*aspartate receptor subunit NR1: identification of novel determinants of co-agonist

potentiation in the extracellular M3-M4 loop region. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. , 1996. 93: p. 6031-6.

- 161. Armstrong N, Gouaux E., *Mechanisms for activation and antagonism of an AMPA-sensitive glutamate receptor: crystal structures of the GluR2 ligand binding core.* Neuron., 2000. 28: p. 165-81.
- 162. Furukawa H, Gouaux E, *Mechanisms of activation, inhibition and specificity: crystal structures of the NMDA receptor NR1 ligand-binding core.* EMBO J., 2003. 22(12): p. 2873-2885.
- 163. Armstrong N, Sun Y, Chen GQ, Gouaux E., *Structure of a glutamate-receptor ligand-binding core in complex with kainate.* Neuron., 1998. 395: p. 913-7.
- 164. Erreger K, Chen PE, Wyllie DJ, Traynelis SF, *Review Glutamate receptor gating*. Crit Rev Neurobiol., 2004. 16: p. 187-224.
- 165. Hansen KB, Yuan H, Traynelis SF, *Review Structural aspects of AMPA receptor activation, desensitization and deactivation.* Curr Opin Neurobiol., 2007. 17: p. 281-8.
- 166. Sun Y, Olson R, Horning M, Armstrong N, Mayer M, Gouaux E, *Mechanism of glutamate receptor desensitization*. Nature. , 2002. 417: p. 245-53.
- 167. Armstrong N, Jasti J, Beich-Frandsen M, Gouaux E, *Measurement of conformational changes accompanying desensitization in an ionotropic glutamate receptor.* Cell., 2006. 127: p. 85-97.
- 168. Weston MC, Schuck P, Ghosal A, Rosenmund C, Mayer ML, *Conformational restriction blocks glutamate receptor desensitization*. Nat Struct Mol Biol., 2006. 13: p. 1120-7.
- 169. Ataman ZA, Gakhar L, Sorensen BR, Hell JW, Shea MA, *The NMDA receptor NR1 C1 region* bound to calmodulin: structural insights into functional differences between homologous domains. Structure. , 2007. 15: p. 1603-17.
- 170. Wang JQ, Liu X, Zhang G, Parelkar NK, Arora A, Haines M, Fibuch EE, Mao L., *Phosphorylation of glutamate receptors: a potential mechanism for the regulation of receptor function and psychostimulant action.* J Neurosci Res., 2006. 84: p. 1621-9.
- 171. Kaniakova M, Krausova B, Vyklicky V, Korinek M, Lichnerova K, Vyklicky L, Horak M., *Key* amino acid residues within the third membrane domains of NR1 and NR2 subunits contribute to the regulation of the surface delivery of N-methyl-D-aspartate receptors. J Biol Chem., 2012. 287: p. 26423-34.
- 172. Krupp JJ, Vissel B, Heinemann SF, Westbrook GL., *N-terminal domains in the NR2 subunit control desensitization of NMDA receptors*. Neuron., 1998. 20: p. 317-27.

- 173. Kohda K, Wang Y, Yuzaki M., *Mutation of a glutamate receptor motif reveals its role in gating and delta2 receptor channel properties.* Nat Neurosci. , 2000. 3: p. 315-22.
- 174. Vicini S, Wang JF, Li JH, Zhu WJ, Wang YH, Luo JH, Wolfe BB, Grayson DR, *Functional and pharmacological differences between recombinant N-methyl-D-aspartate receptors*. J Neurophysiol., 1998. 79: p. 555-66.
- 175. JJ, Woodward, *Review Ethanol and NMDA receptor signaling*. Crit Rev Neurobiol. , 2000. 14: p. 69-89.
- 176. Lima-Landman MT, Albuquerque EX, *Ethanol potentiates and blocks NMDA-activated singlechannel currents in rat hippocampal pyramidal cells.* FEBS Lett. , 1989. 247: p. 61-7.
- 177. Xu M, Smothers CT, Woodward JJ, *Effects of ethanol on phosphorylation site mutants of recombinant N-methyl-D-aspartate receptors.* Alcohol., 2011. 45: p. 373-80.
- 178. Krasowski MD, Harrison NL, *The actions of ether, alcohol and alkane general anaesthetics on GABAA and glycine receptors and the effects of TM2 and TM3 mutations.* Br J Pharmacol., 2000. 129: p. 731-43.
- 179. Choi Y, Chen HV, Lipton SA., *Three pairs of cysteine residues mediate both redox and zn2+ modulation of the nmda receptor.* J Neurosci., 2001. 21: p. 392-400.
- 180. Brimecombe JC, Potthoff WK, Aizenman E., A Critical Role of the N-Methyl-D-aspartate (NMDA) Receptor Subunit (NR) 2A in the Expression of Redox Sensitivity of NR1/NR2A Recombinant NMDA Receptors. J Pharmacol Exp Ther., 1999. 291: p. 785-92.
- 181. Sullivan JM, Traynelis SF, Chen HS, Escobar W, Heinemann SF, Lipton SA., *Identification of two cysteine residues that are required for redox modulation of the NMDA subtype of glutamate receptor*. Neuron. , 1994. 13: p. 929-36.
- D, Colquhoun, Review Binding, gating, affinity and efficacy: the interpretation of structureactivity relationships for agonists and of the effects of mutating receptors. Br J Pharmacol., 1998. 125: p. 125(5):924-47.
- 183. Möykkynen T, Korpi ER, and Lovinger DM Ethanol inhibits α-amino-3-hydyroxy-5-methyl-4isoxazolepropionic acid (AMPA) receptor function in central nervous system neurons by stabilizing desensitization. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 2003. 306: p. 546–555.
- 184. DM, Dopico AM and Lovinger, *Acute alcohol action and desensitization of ligand-gated ion channels.* Pharmacol Rev., 2009. 61: p. 98–114.